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THE HEARING RESUMES 

CHAIR:    Does anyone have anything else they want to raise?  We’ll resume in public and Mr Grieve, he was still on part 6 of his submission.  We hadn’t moved into the internal morality part yet, Mr Grieve.

MR GRIEVE:    I think we’re about to Madam Chair.

CHAIR:    Before you do, there’s an issue I want to ask you about part 6, but I’ll wait until the public …

MR GRIEVE:    Madam Chair, could I just deal with a couple of matters by way of housekeeping…

CHAIR:    Yes certainly.

MR GRIEVE:    I indicated that I would give you some transcript references in relation to the qualitative assessment of error submission.  That’s dealt with during the course of my cross examination of Dr Teague on Monday 17 July.  It went over a number of pages but you will see that there are reasonably direct references to it on page b1349 beginning of about line 2 and then the matter got, there were some other issues that were traversed in the next couple of pages and we came back to it at page 1353, line 3 and it again continued on for a few pages.  So that’s where it was traversed with Dr Teague.

CHAIR:    Right.

MR GRIEVE:    The other matter that I just wanted to mention while we’re dealing with this sort of topic was that in one of my transcript references, in section 7, although I don’t think I have cited it in terms of setting it out in detail, that is by copying the transcript, I know it is referred to and it is set out, the passage I am thinking about is set out in the Royal College’s submission at page 59 and I’m bound to indicate that I think the transcript is in error…

CHAIR:    Right.

MR GRIEVE:    And should be corrected.  You will see that there is a citation there at paragraph 13.3.5 at page 59 where there is set out a …

CHAIR:    Sorry, just pause. I’m looking at the Royal College’s submissions and paragraph 13.3.5 is page 78.

MR GRIEVE:    Oh, well I actually – mine’s an electronic copy of course and in fact the page numbers are wrong.

CHAIR:    Yes the page numbers are wrong.  If you just give me the paragraph numbers.

MR GRIEVE:    I deal with it in paragraph numbers, it’s 13.3.5 and that should be a paragraph beginning on obtaining the review results?

CHAIR:    Yes That's right.

MR GRIEVE:    And then there’s the quotation of a question that you put to Dr Teague and his answer there were two things.  Now he was there saying that there were two reasons why the ACL review did not require him to act.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR GRIEVE:    And it should read I think “I did not believe that there was a problem”.

CHAIR:    Yes, you’re right Mr Grieve.  That’s the only way to make sense of the statement.  Mr Rennie, do you agree with that?

MR RENNIE:    Ma’am, I’d have to check it and I’ll come back to you on it.

CHAIR:    Yes.  As always, there are likely to be matters of this nature that have crept into the transcript, certainly everything is being taped as well so rest assured, if something becomes very controversial, we can all listen to the tapes.

MR GRIEVE:    Well that’s how I recall it.  I would that it was the other way around but that’s my recollection of it.

CHAIR:    Fine.

MR GRIEVE:    Now Madam Chair, I had concluded section 6 but you had indicated that you have a question of me about it.

CHAIR:    Yes I do have a question in that is you’ve talked about the mindset that errors are justifiable, a sole notion of false negative smears and it seemed to me at paragraph 6.2, you’ve said that the relevance of the concept of false negative in the context of cervical smears is as a statistical tool for the measurement by comparison of the performance of one laboratory against another.  And you’ve referred at 6.3 to Dr McGoogan’s evidence saying it is possible statistics will indicate a laboratory is performing acceptably when in fact, it is not.  She has said there.  It did seem to me that would you, do you think it would be important for laboratories to regularly receive robust statistical information which showed them what reporting rates were and how they compared with other laboratories?

MR GRIEVE:    Yes Madam Chair, I think that with the emphasis on robust and if that is intended to include histology, cytology, correlation or positive predictive value information, then absolutely yes.

CHAIR:    It seemed to me that the notion of false negatives can create a false sense of security in that there needed to be ways of getting around that and one of those ways was good provision of information to laboratories.  One example is the histology, cytology, correlation, positive predictive values and it also seemed to me good quality statistical information on performance would be of assistance.  On the evidence we have heard to date, what comment do you have to make on the type of information that the screening programme was making available to laboratories?

MR GRIEVE:    I think that Madam Chair I submit that the evidence disclosed to date indicates quite clearly that the information was inadequate.  We know about how the 1994 statistics produced in 1996 to which you’ve referred this morning.  We know how they were utilised, giving a false sense of - falsely reassuring people and it took this inquiry really to direct supposedly informed and educated minds to the shortcomings of those statistics.  So I have no hesitation in submitting that the statistical material really submitted and made publicly available probably all material prior to this inquiry was of doubtful value.

CHAIR:    Was does that indicate to you about the performance of the programme.  I mean who other than those running the programme could provide information and given the information that was provided, was does that indicate to you about the programme?

MR GRIEVE:    I’m going to answer that again in a general way, and I’m also going to seek your leave to defer a detailed answer from my learned friend Mr Corkill.

CHAIR:    Yes, he covers that in his submissions doesn’t he?

MR GRIEVE:    That is his area that he has been concentrating on.

CHAIR:    If you’d rather not, you don’t have to answer it.

MR GRIEVE:    I have some views about it, perhaps not as informed as his, but it seems to me that Madam Chair that for a variety of reasons, those responsible for administering a programme have either been unwilling or unable to utilise a wealth of expertise that was available to them.  You’ve had many of those people who could have provided that expertise and were willing to do so, give evidence before you.  Professor Skegg, Dr Cox, to name two.  There was probably additional expertise available, in fact there have been reports from other experts like the Stratten report and no doubt had it been sought, there would’ve been expertise available from other countries like the United Kingdom and Australia.  Now, whether the constraints are financial resources that were limited, whether it’s political well, whether it's administrative inefficiency or unwillingness to get the job done, one could raise all those issues and say they all contributed and indeed, bearing in mind the limitations of the discussion we’ve just had in chambers, nevertheless, some of those issues in my view stand behind the topic that was then discussed.  So in summary, I suppose those remarks are critical of those responsible for administering the programme.

CHAIR:    Thank you.  That covers my questions I had on the paragraph 6, yes.

MR GRIEVE:    Now Madam Chair, I move to section 7.  Now I’m in your hands on this, consistent with what counsel submitted to you earlier, wouldn’t propose to even offer an oral summary.

CHAIR:    No.

MR GRIEVE:    And if you’re happy with that, there are some issues that I wish to just touch on by way of reference to or reply to other submissions and I can deal with the Committee’s questions, whichever you prefer.

CHAIR:    It may be I do have questions about this section but also I was last night, I read the section again, then read the Royal College of Pathologists because I think that is the area where there is the conflict.  If you’re going to address what the Royal College has said on this point, then it may be best for you to do so.  I can question you in that context.  Just to give you a summary of the concerns I had at the moment, it seemed to me that one of the points which I’d raised during the course of the evidence too, was that it’s all very well to say there was an absence of internal morality and this is referring to the Paul article where she is contrasting internal morality with external morality or external controls.  But in terms of making an assessment in this instance, it seemed that I would need to know what does the moral pathologists do?  What are the circumstances so that you clearly identify the factual circumstances, you’ve gone some way to do that here.  But what they are and then to be told, and really told not just from your submissions but to be pointed to expert evidence to what does the moral pathologist do in these circumstances and yesterday, I had asked to, this was when we were talking about part 6 but it runs into part 7, are there any ethical requirements or were there at the time on a practitioner, such as Dr Teague, to report what he had learnt.  And the next point of course is what do you say he had learnt that he should have reported on because we know that he was co-ordinating the ACL review, we know he got that information, he did that in circumstances where he knew there was going to be a hearing concerning the matter, so what do you say is appropriate conduct in those circumstances?  I’ll leave it to you to develop it because the Royal College has gone into this in much greater detail in their submissions so in a sense, I think it is a very important part of your submission if you want to persuade the Committee that it ought to comment and ought to accept your submission that there has been an absence of internal morality.  So I’ll leave it to you to develop as you see fit.  And we’ll break at 11.30 so keep that in mind.

MR GRIEVE:    Madam Chair, one of the issues that I did want to deal with in relation to the Royal College submission was the question of, and it arose also during the hearing and I think the College has referred to some of the transcript references where it arose, and that is the question of, if Dr Teague was to have done something, what about all the other doctors in respect of whom this in various forms came to notice?  And the College submission enumerates the doctor’s by name who came into contact with the factual situation to a greater or lesser degree including the members of the MPDC and the Medical Council and so forth.  My response to that is this, and it’s dealt with at the very end of this section I think in the summary but also in the text, the first response is that Dr Teague was in a special position in relation to virtually all his peers in this country.  Paragraph 7.30, he was the New Zealand expert and the New Zealand pathologist who, of probably all his peers, had expended a lot of time and energy on promoting quality control issues, improving the quality and reliability of cytology services in this country.  Another one who was in the same category in fact, or certainly close to it, is Dr Linehan by virtue of his long involvement with ethical matters in this country.

CHAIR:    So could I just ask you this, are you saying that because of the special knowledge these two doctors have, there is a higher onus on them to come forward or take some steps to do something then there would be on doctors generally?

MR GRIEVE:    I wouldn’t put it terms of onus Madam Chair, it’s that they were better informed and thus, ought to have been better abled to assess the situation and in that situation, they had because of that greater degree of knowledge, had the obligation to take whatever steps were required of them ethically.  I don’t think it’s a correct way to analyse it to say that the onus on them was greater, they were simply in a better position to be aware of circumstances which should’ve brought to their attention the fact that something should’ve been done.

CHAIR:    But if that’s the case, if the onus is entire, just for convenience I’ll go to paragraph 78 of the Royal College’s submissions at that paragraph, paragraph 13.3.5, you see there that Dr Teague is saying that he didn’t, and I think that is how it should be read, I’ll read it that way for now, he didn’t believe …..

MR RENNIE:    Can I just interrupt Ma’am?

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR RENNIE:    We actually made contact with Dr Teague who confirms that that would be correct.

CHAIR:    Yes Mr Rennie.  He didn’t believe there was a problem and secondly, the case was going to a proper review by disciplinary body and so he was saying in those circumstances, he didn’t consider that there was anything for him to do.  Now, are you suggesting that I should not accept his evidence on that point?

MR GRIEVE:    Yes.

CHAIR:    Can you tell me, on what basis should I disbelieve Dr Teague on this point?

MR GRIEVE:    Well Madam Chair, in my submission, your task is to look at the facts which we have enumerated in these submissions as to his state of mind at the time.  What did he in fact know and we’re talking, of course it’s a staged process, the acquisition of knowledge but probably the first point at which time could reasonably have said well he should have done something was in August 1995 because at that point, he had knowledge the circumstances in which Dr Bottrill was practising…

CHAIR:    Would it be difficult for you if we dealt with each one at a time?

MR GRIEVE:    No.

CHAIR:    In respect of that, I note you’ve referred to that in your submissions from about paragraph 7.7, goes through to about 7.13, but it seemed to me that at the time, it was legally permissible for someone to operate in the way that Dr Bottrill operated.  The Ministry of Health had been prepared to fund his laboratory under the Social Security scheme and then subsequently with the change to Regional Health Authority’s under the Section 51 notices, the Regional Health Authority was paying him.  So in those circumstances, given that the Health Funders were prepared to utilise Dr Bottrill’s services and to pay for them, on what basis could Dr Teague conclude that this was bad performance on Dr Bottrill’s part or a factor of bad performance?

MR GRIEVE:    Well Madam Chair, with respect, it doesn’t necessarily follow that just because something is not illegal, that it’s not bad practice, and the fact of it might not have been illegal and that Dr Bottrill was still being paid by whatever body was responsible for paying, is something that may need to be addressed in relation to them, and that’s another systemic problem about which there’s been a lot of evidence.  So that the mere fact that he was being paid and that it wasn’t illegal not to be Telarc accredited etc., doesn’t mean that his colleagues and peers, who were aware of what good practice was, were free to do nothing on that account.

CHAIR:    You’ve talked about good practice, things are never black and white, there is good practice, there is the excellent practitioner, there is bad practice and then there can be sub-optimal practice where practice is mediocre but it’s not actually bad.  Now, just on the strength of what you’ve said so far in the fact that Dr Bottrill was operating a laboratory that was not Telarc accredited, that he was operating on his own, could one properly conclude from that that his practice would be bad?

MR GRIEVE:    On it's own, but that wasn’t all that had happened as at August 1995.

CHAIR:    Right.

MR GRIEVE:    That’s what I’m saying.  It was the combined effect of a number of facts of which Dr Teague was aware that we say should have brought him to the point where he was not only been concerned about the safety of the women whose smears were being read, but also he should have done something about it.  Now, he was concerned, we know he was concerned, and he was concerned even before he got the cytology review panel results, because the evidence discloses that the order of events was that he knew details of the circumstances in which Dr Bottrill was practising.  He knew that he was practising on his own.  We have for example Dr Linehan’s comment in his brief about how dangerous that is and how he regarded, he changed it somewhat when he gave evidence and I comment on those changes.  It was also well known to people who had standards in mind that practises on your own could create a problem.

CHAIR:    This is the point.  It could create a problem, we’ve heard that evidence.  We heard that too from Professor McGoogan but can you actually point me to evidence where a pathologist or some other person I could recognise as an expert has come along and said “this should not have been done”.  It’s not just the question that it’s not a good idea to do it, it’s better to do it another way, but it should never have been done in this fashion.

MR GRIEVE:    Well, Dr McGoogan’s evidence came the closest to saying that it was bad practice.  I think, I’m just trying to remember the context in which Dr Medley said that women were at risk.  Certainly Dr McGoogan, I just can’t recall whether in this narrower context Dr Farnsworth said the same thing, and certainly Dr Linehan said it in his brief.  And we know that Dr Teague was concerned because before he got the results, when Dr Bottrill apparently phoned him and said I want you to review these slides, the conversation included a discussion about the fact that Dr Bottrill was not Telarc accredited and Dr Teague said “well you must get Telarc accredited and you should send your cytology to us”.  Now that, in my submission, is evidence from which you can conclude that he was concerned to a degree.

CHAIR:    Well just tell me this then, we know that Dr Teague knew of this information and circumstances where he knew there was going to be a formal inquiry about Dr Bottrill which would have caused protect but Dr Bottrill in terms of him having a fair hearing about any criticisms related to him, do you agree with that?

MR GRIEVE:    What, that he would be protected?

CHAIR:    In a formal inquiry, he would have the necessary procedural protections of fairness.

MR GRIEVE:    It doesn’t need me to agree to that Madam Chair.

CHAIR:    That’s taking it bit by bit, I didn’t want to assume.  The next point though is that if Dr Teague knows there is going to be a formal inquiry and he in fact appears as a prosecution witness at that inquiry, he also gives Dr Bottrill some advice about what he should do in terms of becoming Telarc accredited and sending his cytology elsewhere.  What else could he have done, what do you say should he have done that he failed to do?

MR GRIEVE:    Once he got the results from the cytology review panel, one of the first things that he could have done would have been to have done a review of the smears himself and decided whether in fact the appearances were such as to cause alarm.

CHAIR:    Did you ask him that question?

MR GRIEVE:    I traversed –

CHAIR:    I don’t recall it.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes, I did Madam Chair, you will recall there was a detailed exchange about the…. I didn’t ask him why he hadn’t done it then, I asked him about his personal examination of the slides in the context of …. Well I asked him when he had it because of course, later he gave evidence in the High Court for Dr Bottrill and you will recall, there was quite a bit of exchange about the extent of his review of his smears when he took the photo micrographs…

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR GRIEVE:    And he was somewhat hesitant to acknowledge that he had looked at the smears carefully, he sort of kept saying “well I took the photo micrographs”, I took from that he wasn’t prepared to indicate that he had looked at them carefully himself.

CHAIR:    His role as I understand it from the evidence was that he was a coordinator of a review which was part of a process that the ACL had set up when there were disputes about slides and in coordinating that review, he had organised for other laboratories to read the smears and circumstances where they were reading blind smears as well.

MR GRIEVE:    True.

CHAIR:    So it could be said for example that any reading that he did of the smears after he had got the results back from the ACL review panels reading, wouldn’t be a fair reading, it would be a biased reading because he would be reading it with knowledge that others had found the smears to be misread.

MR GRIEVE:    Well I appreciate that Madam Chair, but at one point, is one supposed to start to think about the safety of the women.  Here where four smears from the one woman which had all been misread to a varying degree.  Yes there are considerations for fairness for the doctor concerned, but at some point, behind every smear, there is a woman who has had to suffer the indignity of having that smear taken and who places reliance upon the whole process to give her correct results.  At some point, we say that Dr Teague needed to bear that in mind rather than matters of process or matters of collegiality, whatever it was, we say that his mindset was the false negative mindset, borne out by the terms of his reporting letter.

CHAIR:    Well do you accept that?  You accept that was his mindset?

MR GRIEVE:    Yes.

CHAIR:    Because if he believed that what he was seeing here was just an example of false negatives, there would be another reason to explain why he did nothing, why he saw no need to do anything.  So it is very difficult to criticise someone for lacking internal morality when what they are seeing is a mistake which they attribute to the false negative phenomena which it is accepted does happen.

MR GRIEVE:   Yes but in addition to that Madam Chair, we say that he had this additional knowledge about the circumstances in which Dr Bottrill was practising which he knew were risky, shall we say, sole practitioner, not Telarc accredited, no external quality assurance and so it goes on.

CHAIR:    Look, we’ve come to 11.30.  perhaps when we come back, could you please outline for me what you think you could have done because it’s all very well to be critical of someone for not doing something but you also have to be able to say what could have actually been done, what could he have done?

MR GRIEVE:    Well I mentioned the first thing Madam Chair.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR GRIEVE:    And I’ll complete the list after the break.

CHAIR:    Okay.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Very quickly, when Dr Teague advised Dr Bottrill to have his laboratory accredited and pending that, to send the slides elsewhere, what was Dr Teague demonstrating with that activity?  Was that internal morality or what was that?

MR GRIEVE:    Well, I would have called it concern and insofar it was one medical practitioner expressing concern about the practises of another, yes, internal morality.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    So he did demonstrate some internal morality?

MR GRIEVE:    To a limited degree, yes, at that point.  I mean, he didn’t follow it through.

CHAIR:    One more thing before we break, and I’ll just elude to this, it comes up in paragraph 7.16 of your submission where you’re talking about internal morality as being the values and rules that are intrinsic to the practice of medicine that they arise from within a community based on how one should behave in one’s daily work.  I’ve heard a lot from you about what Dr Teague should and shouldn’t have done, but one of the things I would like after the break, is if you could refer me to the evidence that we have heard in this inquiry which would inform us what are the values of pathologists, or what are the values of the community of practitioners working in this area.  So not even just pathologists but the cyto screeners, the clinical caregivers, whatever, in terms of what would they do when it came to their attention that someone was practising in the way that Dr Bottrill was practising, because before we can make an assessment of whether or not Dr Teague lacked internal morality, we need to actually know what values form the basis of the internal morality which you say is absent.  And we need to know that from evidence of people working in the field, rather than submissions from counsel, as to what counsel thinks the internal morality ought to be.  I’m open to hearing from you on that Mr Grieve but it would be helpful to know what those, who practice in the field, think.  Well adjourn now until 11.50.

INQUIRY ADJOURNS UNTIL 11.50

CHAIR:    When you’re ready Mr Grieve.

MR GRIEVE:    Just before we finished, Professor Duggan asked me about my comment on whether a step taken by Dr Teague amounted to internal morality and I said it did to a point.  Perhaps I should just begin by defining what I understand the term to mean and that is, and I’m really just paraphrasing the way it’s been described in Professor Paul’s articles.  But as I understand, it is the ability of health professionals recognise that there is a problem and then to do something effective about it without the need to have some form of external agency impose its requirements on the situation.  Now I’ve phrased that broadly, it could be all manner of issues that might attract the obligation to do so something.  Here the problem was whether or not a pathologist was acting competently and the issue is whether or not there were sufficient warning signs to bring to the consciousness of, in this case we’re discussing Dr Teague, an awareness that there was a likelihood or even a possibility that Dr Bottrill was acting less than competently.  It doesn’t have to be in my submission knowledge that he was in fact acting incompetently, it’s the suspicion.

CHAIR:    Well that in itself is an interesting issue because the Paul article which you have quoted at 7.16 talks about internal morality as being the shared values that are learnt from one another, they may or may not be written down and those shared values that are learnt, would be values that are known to the practitioners so they would have a fair idea of at what point in time do you take the step of doing something, be it reporting to the Medical Council or what.  I’m aware that for lawyers under our ethical code, rule 603 says that if you have good cause to suspect a defalcation or it's improper acts, you’re obliged to report to the Law Society.  You don’t have to know they’re happening, you just have to have good cause to suspect.  Now that is an ethical value which we all, as lawyers, share which has in fact has been written down in our code but we would all have an understanding of what the test was and we would all have a fair idea of what amounted to good cause to suspect as opposed to just a whim or a mere suspicion that something was wrong.  Now at the moment, in respect of the internal morality that you are making submissions on, I haven’t heard from anyone within that community what the test is, in other words, what is their shared value, do you have to know someone is behaving incompetently, is it enough to suspect they are behaving incompetently, and irrespective of what the test is, if you are satisfied the test is met, what do you do about it.  Now that’s where, I’m lacking evidence.

MR GRIEVE:    Well Madam Chair, you’re obviously asking me having regard to the questions you posed before the break about the evidence point, I accept that you have heard from no expert who has dealt specifically with this, but you’ve heard from Dr Farnsworth who was asked about what she would do in this situation.

CHAIR:    Well can we just go through what Dr Farnsworth says she would do and how bad did things have to be before that triggered in her a recognition of a need to do something.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes, I’ll just find where I’ve dealt with that.  Just while I’m doing that Madam Chair, I also want to make the point that of course you are an expert panel, you have expertise in the form of Professor Duggan who is entitled to bring her expertise and knowledge of these matters to bear on the question.  I’m not suggesting that she can ….. she certainly can’t act on a whim, she certainly can’t give evidence, but she is entitled to bring her expertise to bear on the facts as have been established in evidence.

CHAIR:    Yes, but the difficulty there is that Professor Duggan is sitting on the Committee.  Now, as a pathologist, she is in a very good position to make an assessment of any evidence that is put forward on what is the internal morality of pathologists and other medical practitioners working in that community, but is she were to, in the course of writing the report, put out her own ideas on internal morality without anyone in this room being given the opportunity to comment on those ideas or to lead their own expert evidence, I think that would be a breach of natural justice.  And if Professor Duggan has certain views on internal morality of pathologists which she decides Dr Teague is acting contrary to, fairness would have required those values to be put to Dr Teague, so he had an opportunity to comment on them.

MR GRIEVE:    The thing to be borne in mind in my submission Madam Chair is this, that there has been proved various Codes of Ethics in the course of evidence.

CHAIR:    Can you point me to a passage in the Code of Ethics which supports your argument.

MR GRIEVE:    I’m going to rely simply on the accepted obligation that a doctor has to put the interests of her or her patients above all else.

CHAIR:    So that is what you rely on?

MR GRIEVE:    I rely on that, and this as I see it, is simply an extension of that and with respect, it doesn’t need definition.

CHAIR:    Forgive me for interrupting your flow, but you talk about the obligation of a doctor to act in the best interests of his or her patient, these smears that were being read, the women were not Dr Teague’s patients, he was organising a review.

MR GRIEVE:    They were not his patients directly but frankly Madam Chair, I find it incredible that it would be suggested that he has no obligation as a medical practitioner to them if it became apparent to him that a medical practitioner was acting incompetently with regard to their smears.  Let’s take it beyond the facts that we have here.  If it came to his attention, to say for example, there was a case where extrapolating from Patient One’s case, Dr Teague himself said if there had been four high grade smears read as normal, I would have been concerned.  Now, let’s just assume that that had been the situation, frankly Madam Chair, I do not see that it would’ve been ethically appropriate for him to do nothing, simply because they were not his patients.  They would be contrary to his ethical obligations as a medical practitioner.  If we refer you to the New Zealand Medical Association’s Code of Ethics, I just don’t have the precise exhibit number…

CHAIR:    I want to take time on this because it’s a serious submission that you make, equally it has serious consequences for Dr Teague and I know it’s strongly resisted by Mr Rennie.  Part of following the submission through actually involves disbelieving Dr Teague’s evidence, because if you accept his evidence at the time, he didn’t believe there was a problem and secondly, he thought the matter was being investigated by a formal inquiry and so there was no need for him to do anything.  Now, in order for you follow your submissions through, I need to disbelieve him on that point and say that he is either mistaken or mislead himself or whatever, but that his evidence cannot be relied upon by this inquiry.

MR GRIEVE:    The way I’ve put it Madam Chair in the submissions is that this amounted to what I have called and it's a term that’s used in other areas of the law…

CHAIR:    Nelsonian Blindness.

MR GRIEVE: Nelsonian Blindness.

CHAIR:    Which is like recklessness, it’s saying Dr Teague is acting recklessly here.  If you take the metaphor, Nelson put his telescope to his blind eye and that’s what you’re saying Dr Teague has done, he has intentionally chosen not to look at something that was staring him in the face.  That is a very serious allegation to make.  I’m prepared to hear you on, I only say this now to explain why we’re taking so much time on it.

MR GRIEVE:    I understand that Madam Chair.

MR RENNIE:    Ma’am, I’d have to go further on that point and say that my friend never put in any such allegation to Dr Teague and to the contrary, as recently as yesterday, acknowledged that at most, Dr Teague might have unintentionally made an error.  And if my friend is now to embark upon a proposition of intentional wrongdoing, I have two things to say about that; one is that he can’t because he never put it and it’s my friend who has repeatedly brought us back to the natural justice issue, and secondly not only did he never put it, but he’s now saying the opposite of what he said yesterday.  And I would suggest with respect that my friend now engaged on some personalised escapade of interest to some party whom he may represent in another venue and I would respectfully point out, although I have resisted doing it up until now, that all of my friend’s submission on this point has nothing whatsoever to do with any of the terms of reference.

CHAIR:    Yes Mr Rennie.  Mr Grieve?

MR GRIEVE:    Well was that an objection because I don’t understand the counsel can object in the middle of submission?

CHAIR:    He’s just stating a point here, obviously I’m not going to curtail you, I’m giving you every opportunity to make your submissions whether I accept them or not is another matter.  But you have the opportunity to make them as long as they’re …. ensure that they’re supported by evidence.  Now, one of the things I would like to know is can you point me to anywhere in the evidence where you put it to Dr Teague that he acted with Nelsonian Blindness?

MR GRIEVE:    No, I did not put that, I accept that.  Now, if I may say so, you have put an interpretation on Nelsonian Blindness which may well be grammatically correct.  But I should not be taken as submitting that Dr Teague’s actions were deliberate because I don’t put it that highly.  Maybe I can then be criticised for saying, well Nelsonian Blindness is too strong, if taken literally, that’s how you interpret it, or that phrase, then yes it’s too strong.  What I am saying is that there were facts known to him which ought to have alerted him to the situation and which he, because of his mindset, ignored and he is thereby responsible to that extent.  Now I don’t say even chose to ignore because that connotes an element of deliberation and intention so I put it on the basis of a mindset that precluded him from considering the possibility of incompetence or error being the cause of the problems with Patient One’s smears and alerting him to the possibility that there may well be similar problems in relation to other smears read by Dr Bottrill.

CHAIR:    Well if that’s the case if we could get back to what he said which is quoted at paragraph 13.3.5 of the College’s submissions where he says he didn’t believe that there was evidence of a problem.  Are you saying that he was honestly saying what he believed there, or are you saying that he is not honestly what he believed.

MR GRIEVE:    I’m saying that the facts as known to him should have lead him to the position where he did realise that there was a problem.

CHAIR:    That’s all very well to say that he should have realised but what I want to know, because earlier on you said that I shouldn’t accept his evidence.  He said he didn’t believe there was a problem.  Do you accept that he honestly believed that there was not a problem?

MR GRIEVE:    Yes.

CHAIR:    You do.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes.

CHAIR:    So if anything, really he’s in error here.  That’s what you’re saying?

MR GRIEVE:    Well, in failing to heed the warning signs, in failing to put it together, given the various things that were within his knowledge and failing to realise that there was a problem, yes, that’s an error.  And it’s my submission that this mindset sprang from in part the approach to the false negative smears and a failure to have in the forefront of his mind that patients, women were at risk.  Now, you asked me to point to the Code of Ethics to deal with that, the New Zealand Medical Association’s Code of Ethics in paragraph 

CHAIR:    Can I please have it?

MR GRIEVE:    43, under the heading of Responsibilities to Society, Personal Conduct…..

CHAIR:    Sorry to keep interrupting, but I only have up to paragraph 41.

MR GRIEVE:    I think on that front page Madam Chair.

CHAIR:    Oh I see.  Thank you.

MR GRIEVE:    The practitioner is required to accept a share of the profession’s responsibility to society in matters relating to the health and safety of the public, health education, legislation affecting the health or wellbeing of the community.  So that a medical practitioner’s obligation is not limited, ethical obligation is not limited to simply his or her patients, there is a wider obligation.  I don’t want to repeat my submission.  If it were the fact that Dr Teague had had before him clear evidence of incompetence by Dr Bottrill, in my submission it would’ve been quite unethical for him to say or take the view, well they’re not my patients I will do nothing.

CHAIR:    Yes, well so far all we know is that he knew that of the slides subject to the review panel for Patient One, three out of five had been misread.

MR GRIEVE:    And he knew the circumstances in which Dr Bottrill practised.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR GRIEVE:    Knew that it was dangerous to be practising as a sole practitioner, knew that he had been practising as a primary screener, all those things.  And we say that those were warning signs which were overlooked, ignored.

CHAIR:    And on what basis do you say that any member of the medical profession, knowing this information, would’ve taken this action?

MR GRIEVE:    On what basis do I say what?

CHAIR:    That a member of the medical profession knowing what Dr Teague knew, would’ve taken some action?

MR GRIEVE:    Do you mean should have or would have?  I’m sorry, I don’t…

CHAIR:    Would have, in the sense that …. You have identified that what Dr Teague knew at the time and you’ve referred me to paragraph 43 of the Code of Ethics which is a very general paragraph.  What I’m trying to work out for myself is, is it safe for me to assume that any medical practitioner, knowing what Dr Teague knew, would have reported that matter to some authority, you still actually haven’t told me who the authority is or what steps he would’ve taken, but how would I know that this information is enough to trigger the ethical requirement to do something?

MR GRIEVE:    Well you have in that regard Dr Farnsworth’s evidence, she outlined what she would have done.

CHAIR:    What did she say she would have done? All I’ve got from that is what Mr Rennie has put in his submissions.  Have you referred me to…

MR GRIEVE:    I don’t know that I did in fact Madam Chair.

CHAIR:    Yes, 13.5 is what Dr Farnsworth says in Mr Rennie’s submissions.  She said she’d write to the pathologist.

MR GRIEVE:    I have referred to it in paragraph 7.28 and I’ve referred to pages 1804 through to 1807 and that seems to include the passages referred to by Mr Rennie.

CHAIR:    Well at your paragraph 7.28, we’ve got Dr Farnsworth saying if she knew and nothing happened, she would be very concerned for the women.  She said she would be very concerned for them and therefore, would have to probably do something more but as I say, I don’t know what was done.  The point is she doesn’t say what more she would do.

MR GRIEVE:    She does, if you go to paragraph, page 1804 of the transcript.

CHAIR:    1804.

MR GRIEVE:    And in fact it starts earlier than that.  There’s a lengthy section from the transcript on it, I’ve just referred to 1804 for the sake of precision but this topic began really at page 1796 line 14 where I began to put to her the various matters that were known to Dr Teague.  So it probably begins at 1796 line 14 and it goes over right through 1804 where she says beginning at line 1, and she’s referring at that point to the letter and she says “would I have left it there personally in a similar situation in Australia, the answer is no and as I said, what I would have done in Australia is exactly speak to the pathologist”.  Then she goes on a little further down “I probably would’ve rung the pathologist myself and spoken to them, it would’ve depended upon the response of the pathologist if the pathologist was, shall we say, not then concerned to go ahead, to get the systems in place we’re talking about, if there was some reluctance on the part of that pathologist, I may go another step further.  One would approach it on a peer level, try and approach it that way” and then further over at page 1805 line 9 “additionally one would follow it up, one would wait to see the response of the laboratory, it would be very difficult, we are talking about someone in not my position, someone who is say particular in quality and cervical screening, well that was Dr Teague’s position of course”.  “If I knew of that and nothing then happened, I would very concerned for the woman”.  And further down “I would not be able to rest personally in this situation if I knew about something like that in Australia”.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    In your questioning Mr Grieve of Dr Farnsworth at that point, did you let her know that the context of this particular situation, that this was an ACC claim.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes, much further back.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Okay.

CHAIR:    Well, before we continue with that, tell me this.  We don’t have any evidence from Dr Farnsworth as to what she would’ve done and in terms of what she would actually have done.  Can you tell me before we continue any further with this what you think Dr Teague should have done?

MR GRIEVE:    Yes.  In my submission, he should have followed up his initial suggestion that Dr Bottrill should send out his cytology, remembering that that initial suggestion was made before he knew the cytology review panel results.

CHAIR:    When you say follow up, what was he supposed to do?

MR GRIEVE:    Well Madam Chair, could I just go through the list?

CHAIR:    Sorry, yes.

MR GRIEVE:    He should have followed it up in the first place by speaking again to Dr Bottrill and perhaps saying to him, I’m worried that your patients might be at risk, I have spoken to you already now why don’t I do something in conjunction with you about arranging for you to send the cytology out.  In other words, he should have put some pressure on Dr Bottrill himself.  The next thing he could have done was to go to Midland Health and indicate that he was concerned about the situation.  Of anyone in New Zealand, shall we say, well connected in the world of cytology with officialdom, he was on CALC at the time, he could have raised it there, he had access to Ministry of Health  people if that had been …

CHAIR:    Just tell me, what could the Ministry of Health have done?

MR GRIEVE:    Well presumably, I assume that something could have been done to, at the worst case scenario, in the event that nothing was done by Dr Bottrill, stop making payments to him.

CHAIR:    Well at the time in 95, the Regional Health Authority or the Health Funding Authority was controlling the funding and Dr Bottrill was being funded under Section 51 notices.  Now the Health Funding Authority or Regional Health Authority was an independent legal entity, it had a contractual relationship with the Ministry of Health.  Can you point me to any legal power the Ministry of Health would have had at the time by which it could have said to the Health Funding Authority, we’ve heard from Dr Teague, he’s worried about the way Dr Bottrill is operating, please stop paying him.

MR GRIEVE:    Well as I stand here, no I can’t Madam Chair.  I would need to take some time to just check that.

CHAIR:    Because it is all very well to refer to bodies generally but you see, unless you can point me to a body that actually had the power to do something, it is holler criticism to make of Dr Teague to say, well why didn’t he go and report what he knew to someone because there has to be some provision in place by which there was somebody who had the power to actually do something about the situation.

MR KIRTON:    Madam Chair, if I could be useful at this point?

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR KIRTON:    Section 51 notices were in operation at that point and the Regional Health Authorities as they were at that time did have the power if you recall the Section 51 notice description and I can’t recall exactly the reference, but there was power for the Regional Health Authority to act at that point.

CHAIR:    Yes, Mr Grieve then had said the Ministry of Health, could the Ministry of Health done anything at the time?

MR KIRTON:    Well certainly Madam Chair they did have the funding agreements of which they could have invited the Regional Health Authorities at the time to ensure compliance with their safety requirements under those agreements.  There was sufficient opportunity for the Ministry to do that but notwithstanding that, clearly for the Regional Health Authority to deal with the issue, but notwithstanding that, the issue of discharge of one’s ethical obligation could be described as being fulfilled by taking it to that step to the Ministry.

CHAIR:    Yes Mr Grieve.

MR GRIEVE:    The steps that I have suggested Madam Chair, the early steps and probably would have been the most effective, would have been to put some pressure, peer pressure on Dr Bottrill now that was a relatively easy thing to do, it was the way that Dr Farnsworth would have reacted to it, or did…

CHAIR:    Mr Grieve, you say putting peer pressure on Dr Bottrill is an easy thing to do, I’m not a medical practitioner, I’m a lawyer, but I would think I would have a great deal of trouble putting peer pressure on you if I thought you were doing something wrong and you didn’t.

MR GRIEVE:    Well respect Madam Chair, if you had information about improper or negligent conduct on my part that was possibly continuing and you came to me and said ‘look I’m going to do something about this unless you change your ways’, I would be a fool if I didn’t take that into account.  When I say peer pressure, that was what Dr Teague started to do, that’s what I’m talking about, nothing more than…. and that’s what Dr Farnsworth talked about ‘I would go and talk to the pathologist’ she said.  Dr Teague started that process, it was in its very infancy, he was right at the beginning, he said you should send your cytology elsewhere.  Now if he had gone back to him after the results had come out, and said ‘look, 

CHAIR:    But Dr Duggan has drawn a point to my attention and there are a couple of others too.  Dr Teague had been told Dr Bottrill that he was retiring.  There was also, and this I see appears at b1799, the transcript, there was the ACC claim for medical misadventure and all of this knowledge Dr Teague got happened in between the ACC claim, which had been upheld, and the complaint to the Medical Council.  So in those circumstances, given that Dr Teague did give Dr Bottrill advice which Dr Bottrill seems didn’t follow, at what point then do you say that Dr Teague should have ignored the fact that the Medical Council were dealing with this man, ignored the fact that he was going to retire, and launched into action by complaining to other persons about Dr Bottrill.

MR GRIEVE:    Well first of all, the fact that he was retiring wasn’t going to help either women whose slides were going to be read prior to retirement, nor was it going to help women whose slides may have been incorrectly read prior to retirement or earlier.  Insofar as yes there was in 1995 the ACC review underway and it was likely that that would result in a disciplinary process before the NPDC but it all that was going to take time and did take time.  In fact, the NPDC hearing wasn’t for I think mid 1997, another two years, I mean we know how I agree with the benefit of hindsight, that that was a vital two years for a number of Gisborne women here.  Our submission is that he ought to have known of the potential risk and done something about it.

CHAIR:    I had asked you to outline what and you had outlined going tot he Ministry of Health, I didn’t make a note, everything is being transcribed, Midland Health, what else should he have done?

MR GRIEVE:    Well I started saying speaking to Dr Bottrill and bringing some peer pressure to bear on him.  Going to Midland Health, as I’ve said, I mentioned raising it within the context of cytology advisory liaison committee, CALC.

CHAIR:    Just pause there, tell me, what could CALC have done?

MR GRIEVE:    I suppose it would be a question of widening the peer input.

CHAIR:    Sorry, what does that mean?

MR GRIEVE:    Well, there are examples in the documents of concerns having been raised with CALC and there are examples of Dr Teague making visits under the auspices of his chairmanship of CALC and going to mediating situations, something of that sort could have happened.  He acted as mediator I think on two occasions between a practitioner and the screening programme coordinator in various districts, one was down the South Island.

CHAIR:    Wasn’t that a situation though where the parties wanted to have the matter resolved, in other words, CALC was the sort of agreed body to mediate as opposed to a situation here where you’ve got a medical practitioner whose written to a colleague because he is concerned about the way the colleague’s operating.  The colleague has failed to respond or change his manner of practice, so we’re now looking at what should the practitioner do next.  And I’m interested to see how CALC could have done anything.

MR GRIEVE:    The fact is that nothing was done, that is the fact.  Now it is speculative to try and see what might have happened, I would suggest that if Dr Teague had taken the simple step of going back to Dr Bottrill and saying ‘look here, I am concerned and I think something should be done’, I would be surprised if that had not been sufficient to cause Dr Bottrill to take some steps.  I suspect that all that would have been required would be the threat of something more formal being done, even if the sanctions for doing were doubtful.

CHAIR:    Well tell me this, when Dr Bottrill gave evidence, did you put to him on a hypothetical basis, or firstly did you question him as to why he didn’t respond in the way that Dr Teague had suggested.  Secondly, did you suggest to him that if Dr Teague had tapped him on the shoulder and said ‘look I’ve written to you, I’ve told you there are certain things wrong with your practice, you’re not listening to me, you’d better shape up’ that that sort of peer pressure would have been enough to have remedied the situation.

MR GRIEVE:    Well no I didn’t Madam Chair.

CHAIR:    Because you see without asking Dr Bottrill those questions, what you’re asking this Committee to do is to conclude that Dr Teague lacked internal morality in circumstances where you’re now saying you haven’t pointed to any authoritative body that Dr Teague could have gone to which could have intervened and stopped Dr Bottrill’s practice.  You’re saying now well if he’d gone back to Dr Bottrill a second time and put a bit more peer pressure on him, I am sure Dr Bottrill would have responded, that is entirely speculative and it’s very sparse evidence, if that is what your submission is based upon for this Committee to conclude that Dr Teague lacked internal morality.

MR GRIEVE:    Well of course the difficulty was that on the evidence, it would appear that Dr Bottrill had no idea as to what was happening in terms of his competence and what was needed was someone to point out to him that there were serious issues to be looked at.

CHAIR:    But it was never traversed with Dr Bottrill, the question was never put to him.  If Dr Teague had pointed out to you that your cytology was not being competently carried out, what would you have done.  Because all the evidence we heard from Dr Bottrill was that he liked reading cytology and he thought he was good at it and he didn’t realise he was making the errors that appears he was.

MR GRIEVE:    It needed someone with Dr Teague’s authority and the profession to tell him and of course, far from it, the letter of 14 August didn’t give any hint of any concern, indeed it was reassuring.  False negatives.

CHAIR:    At paragraph 13.7 of the Royal College’s submission in the very last part of the paragraph, it is said of Dr Teague, neither he nor the various doctors involved in the two hearings, that’s the ACC and Medical Disciplinary Hearing and in advising Patient One and in giving evidence at the two hearings, saw cause to do more.  There cannot be one standard on which to test Dr Teague and another for all the other medical professionals involved.

MR GRIEVE:    Sorry what paragraph was that Madam Chair.

CHAIR:    13.6.  Now you’re saying Dr Teague should have done certain things but it is pointed out by the Royal College at the bottom of paragraph 13.6 there were other doctors involved as well.  They knew much the same information and they didn’t do anything. 

MR GRIEVE:    Taking the submission as a whole, the College has listed all the doctors who even sat on the tribunal and so forth.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR GRIEVE:    But I think that paragraph it seems to me means the doctors who gave evidence, it talks about the doctors involved, but in that regard I simply rely on the fact that Dr Teague was in that special position of having not only the knowledge that I have referred to but also the specialist expertise in the area.  He was the cytopathologist who was one of a few in New Zealand it seems who understood and was concerned about the raft of matters relating to quality assurance and quality control in cytology.

CHAIR:    But even so, his evidence is that he didn’t believe there was a problem.

MR GRIEVE:    In response to that, my submission is that he ought to have known that there was a problem from the facts at his disposal.

CHAIR:    There’s also the question of Dr Smale, she didn’t do anything, she had a patient who was dying.

MR GRIEVE:    She is a General Practitioner, she didn’t have anything like the specialist knowledge that Dr Teague had in this area, she would have know something of Dr Bottrill’s circumstances but that’s not answer with respect Madam Chair.  The fact that someone else might have done something and didn’t, particularly someone in her position does not in my submission constitute an appropriate excuse for Dr Teague.

CHAIR:    Well it’s not an excuse but it’s an appropriate yard stick because what I’m struggling to do is to see what are these shared values that medical practitioners have that go to make up their internal morality, and so if you could give me examples of other occasions when other doctors had been aware of what they saw as errors, bad practice being carried out and they had taken action by reporting the doctor to the Medical Council, I could use that as a yard stick against which I could measure Dr Teague’s conduct and say for example, if Dr Smale had made a complaint to the Medical Council, I could have said ‘well when Dr Smale had a patient who was dying and was concerned about the smear reading, she went to the Medical Council and complained about it, why didn’t Dr Teague, he’s being remiss here’.  But the problem is no other medical practitioner was acting in the way that you advocate for and it makes hard therefore for me to decide well the shared values of the medical community are that when a certain standard of bad practice is displayed by a practitioner, the other practitioners will go and complain to an appropriate body who can take some action to stop the bad practice from continuing.

MR GRIEVE:    Well Madam Chair at that point, no other practitioner had the knowledge that was available to Dr Teague.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Was Dr Teague a member of the New Zealand Medical Association?

MR GRIEVE:    I’m not sure about that.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    The New Zealand Medical Association is the voluntary organisation, is that right?

MR KIRTON:    Madam, in response to that the answer is yes, it is a voluntary organisation.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Is Dr Teague a member?

MR KIRTON:    I am not sure.  Can I say though notwithstanding that, I’ve been there before that there is an overall obligation… The New Zealand Medical Association code is derived from a worldwide search and of ethical issues that confront the medical profession generally and in squaring an oath, a medical practitioner obliges themselves to adhere to the practices of the profession and whether one particular entity, New Zealand Medical Association, the College of Pathologists promulgate that Code of Ethics, it is intrinsic to the profession to actually comply with that.  The converse argument could be applied in this case to say well which of the New Zealand Medical Association codes would any medical practitioner contend that they are not obliged to fulfil, I think that is the converse of ‘are you a subscriber to a particular association which promulgates those’.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Yes.  However, as a matter of medical practitioner, I would rather have seen what the Code of Ethics for the organisations that Dr Teague belongs to which would be the New Zealand Medical Council, the Royal College of Pathologists and ACL.

MR KIRTON:    We have seen the college’s ethical guidelines..

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Yes but this is not what Mr Grieve brought forward here today.

MR KIRTON:    Certainly not, but notwithstanding that, there is the obligation whether it is explicitly available, the material available, a medical practitioner is obliged to be aware of those obligations…

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    But Dr Teague occurred to be aware of those obligations in which he expressed some internal morality in vocalising his concern to Dr Bottrill.

MR KIRTON:    Entirely, I would have expected him to do so.  In my view, it is intrinsic to the practice of every practitioner who understand their obligations in these circumstances 

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Probably what is not clear from these documents that are being put forward, what is the procedure?

MR KIRTON:    This is the rub, there seems little procedure and I think if we go back to the Cartwright report, the cry then was the medical profession needs to confront this issue and needs to put in processes that are clear and become an intrinsic part of practice.  This is the problem that medical practitioners haven’t responded to the cry from Cartwright.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    So we had evidence from a physician from Australia with regard to some process that she would undertaken but I don’t think we heard from any physician in New Zealand being asked that question, and certainly I can’t say as a physician from Canada, I can’t apply my process to this situation.

MR KIRTON:    You’re quite right and I think that Madam Chair has raised this issue that where is the evidence, where was this prospect put before the inquiry?  However, is that part of the problem, should that be a part of the inquiry’s intent to say there was not a process despite the medical profession being put on notice there should be a process, there was none.  However, we do have a process, for example the New Zealand Medical Association code, we do have individual practitioner’s responsibilities which can’t be over-ridden and ignored.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    So can you fall to somebody if there is no process?

MR KIRTON:    Indeed, in my submission which will follow later, my view is that these are intrinsic to the medical profession because there is no process, because there is no policemen out there, it doesn’t absolve one from fulfilling obligations which are universally understood, should be intrinsic and which are critical and can be deferred if you like to the first principle.  That is put the interest of the patient first.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    But if there is no process, how can you balance that against the mischievous whistle blowing?

MR KIRTON:    That is a judgement call at the end of the day, however I put it to you that there is no way you can absolve your responsibilities because you do not have a clear process of clear approach and the points made by Mr Grieve in this circumstance is where the additional obligation came where there were opportunities for Dr Teague to take steps.  He had greater knowledge of what opportunities to take, he had greater authority and therefore should have taken certain steps, that is the supposition or the submission of Mr Grieve.  I’m interested to know what the answer is in the absence of a process, my view is that it does not absolve one even though there is no clear and delineated process for taking an ethical issue, the Medical Council have failed to set one up, the New Zealand Medical Association have one, it is not clear.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    I think for me what is missing here is what was Dr Bottrill’s response to Dr Teague when he advised him to become accredited and if Dr Bottrill’s response was the same response he gave here at the inquiry, Dr Teague probably would have considered it exerting peer pressure would be futile.

MR KIRTON:    He may have done that, it nevertheless comes back to the point what steps did he take, we can suppose and put prospects up about the futility of him taking certain steps, for example, in our estimate at this point taking actin through the Ministry of Health may have been somewhat futile, given the level of responsiveness that has been encountered by similar occasions.  Nevertheless, we get back to the prospect ‘what did Dr Teague actually do?’  He stated in his own evidence he did nothing.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Has what you are suggesting ever been done in New Zealand?

MR KIRTON:    Cartwright examines this very closely.  We have the example of Dr McIndoe, his attempts to do something at huge personal cost to himself, a huge cost to himself.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    But let’s say post Cartwright period?

MR KIRTON:    I don’t have an example of that.  I do not have an example of a medical practitioner being an effective whistle blower in the face of his colleagues.  That is a huge concern and that is where the problem I believe continues to lie, that there is not this clear process of professional responsiveness and accountability.

CHAIR:    Thank you Mr Kirton.  Mr Grieve, 

MR GRIEVE:    Well just before lunch, there’s three things.  First of all, in Dr Teague’s brief as part of his curriculum vitae, he lists his affiliations and between 1990 and 1994, he was a member of the executive of the New Zealand Medical Association so he is obviously a member and of the executive for that period.  The next thing that arose out of the discussion between Professor Duggan and my colleague, Mr Kirton, was the issue of process and it’s something I had overlooked but you will recall that, you probably won’t recall like I didn’t, but one of the topics about which I cross examined Dr Teague was the reference in the CALC minutes to a paper presented by one Janet Phuah and it’s in Boyd Volume 4 and I think the page reference is 65.

CHAIR:    Yes, there is a reference to draft quality assurance process, Janet Phuah’s report.

MR GRIEVE:   Yes, Janet Phuah’s report.  Now, Dr Teague referred to this in this brief, I’ll just see if I can find the passage….. I’ll find it after lunch the reference in his brief, but the point I’m making is that this was an attempt obviously to impose some sort of process on situations like the Gisborne situation where the programme discovers a possible indication of inadequate laboratory performance.

CHAIR:    Yes and I note in the CALC minutes referring to the Janet Phuah paper at page 65 of Boyd Volume 4, the suggestion is that if there is a concern about laboratory’s quality assurance data, the issue would be presented to CALC, CALC would monitor the situation, if no improvement and this is all in draft form I might add, but if no improvement, CALC would present the issue to Telarc and of course, Dr Bottrill was not Telarc accredited, and/or the New Zealand Society of Cytology and/or New Zealand Society of Pathologists.  Both of those societies in my understanding is had no power to do anything in respect of a pathologist’s continuing to practice in circumstances where there was problems with his data.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes I am simply saying or referring to this as being an indication that in the absence of some other process, at least CALC was, at least it considered itself as being an appropriate body to at least consider the issue and …

CHAIR:    But that was a draft paper by Janet Phuah suggesting this, did they adopt it?

MR GRIEVE:    No, I’m not suggesting that CALC was to take over the role of some sort of disciplinary role at all, all I am saying is that CALC was a body that was properly concerned about process and was a body where the issue of appropriate process could be considered and reviewed, and that’s what they did in relation to that paper.  I’m simply saying that in that informal context, that it would have been appropriate for Dr Teague to raise his concerns, had he had them about Dr Bottrill’s laboratory.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Mr Grieve, as I read this, this proposed protocol is in regard to the data, data meaning statistical reporting of some for or other, not in regard to process standards.  This is a protocol for interpreting the data and if a laboratory’s data is outside of the average, CALC would initiate a review.  I don’t really see how this process relates to the situation that Dr Teague found himself in when he learnt that Dr Bottrill’s laboratory wasn’t Telarc accredited.

MR GRIEVE:    I suppose..

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    And moreover, Dr Bottrill’s laboratory didn’t receive any data until 1996.

MR GRIEVE:    Well I would not accept that on a reading of this minute, it’s limited to the issue of data because it goes to record that the meeting agreed that if the programme discovered a possible indication of inadequate laboratory performance, the process would be as follows.  You may interpret it differently and we don’t have, although it was the topic of discussion in cross examination with Dr Teague, I don’t think he placed that restriction on it, but I would have submitted, well I do submit that that minute shows that CALC was concerned with a wider issue, namely inadequately laboratory performance not just limited to data produced for quality assurance purposes.  It’s not clear and you are asking me whether I accepted your proposition with great respect because it’s not clear, I don’t.

CHAIR:    Could I just ask you this, do we have any evidence about whether or not there is a process because Mr Kirton has suggested there isn’t a process and we should be critical that there isn’t such a process but in fact, my recall of the evidence is that we simply do not know whether there is a process that Dr Teague could have availed himself or not.

MR GRIEVE:    I suspect that the evidence, the state of the evidence that there is certainly no formal process.

CHAIR:    My understanding is that there is change coming to the legislation which will deal with these issues of concern where persons can report their concerns about their colleague’s performance and it may be that if the concerns are borne out, then a  suspension can be made, but that was not in place at the time.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes I think that’s right Madam Chair.  Again just on the topic of whether and I accept that just all that’s been said about lack of process, but again in Dr Teague’s brief in chapter 25, he deals with individual laboratories and says that from time to time CALC was asked to comment on the performance of individual laboratories, didn’t have the power to investigate or assess the performance of any individual laboratory and that he was concerned with issues of quality control and then goes on to say that the Committee took the view and made substantive recommendations for standard to Telarc so again, accepting that there wasn’t process, nevertheless CALC was a forum at which concern about Dr Bottrill’s laboratory could have been raised, but I accept in an informal context.

CHAIR:    One of the points and I know we have to break for lunch but I just want to finish this off, one of the points that’s concerning me is this.  If there is no clear process setting out what a practitioner should do when he or she is concerned about another’s practice and if there is no specific ethical rule which says that when evidence of bad practice is before you, you should report, in terms of the defensive qualified privilege, it might be difficult to make out a duty to report in those circumstances.  And if a practitioner couldn’t have the benefit of that defense, and I’m not sure whether he might or not, I would be interested to hear from you and Mr Rennie on this point, then the practitioner has to weigh up the threat of a defamation action, because if you go around talking about your colleagues, I mean if I were to go around saying I don’t think much of the way Stuart Grieve has performed in this, this and this case, and reported it because I thought that your conduct was so bad that it was having a bad effect on your clients, technically that is defamatory of you and I would be hard pressed to justify my conduct if I couldn’t prove that I was saying was true.

MR GRIEVE:    Well Madam Chair, qualified privilege, it depends on difficult issues of duties and so forth, I accept that.  But to take the view that that absolves someone from doing anything in circumstances where plainly commonsense requires that something ought to be done, in my view and my submission flies against the ethical obligations in the context of the medical profession …

CHAIR:    Yes but it seems that unless there is a clear process that has been thought out with the appropriate protections for the person concerned, it is actually asking a lot to say, take the example of reporting to the Regional Health Authority that Dr Teague should have got on the phone to Midland and said to Mr Mules ‘I don’t like the way Dr Bottrill is practising, he is not Telarc accredited, he doesn’t have to be but he should be, he’s doing all the primary screening, that’s risky, I think you should exercise whatever powers you have under the Section 51 notice to stop funding his laboratory for cyto screening’.  If that in fact happened that would be very damaging and unless Dr Teague was on very strong ground, which we all know now with the benefit of hindsight, he may well have been but he wouldn’t have known that then.  It’s asking a lot of someone.

MR GRIEVE:    I come back to the fact that my first step in response to your question what steps should be taken, my first step is that Dr Teague should have gone back to Dr Bottrill and raised it with him.  Dr Bottrill was asked about this…

CHAIR:    Yes sorry Mr Grieve.

MR GRIEVE:    Dr Bottrill was asked about this, the page reference is B3138.

CHAIR:    And what was he asked in B3138?

MR GRIEVE:    He was asked this at line 12, I referred him to paragraph 43 of his evidence, you’ve said there that around about July 1995 you had a conversation with Dr Teague about Patient One, he suggested you send your smears to his laboratory.  I note that you didn’t retire until March 1996.  Why after July 1995 when it had been brought to your attention that you had read a number of slides in respect of Patient One, wrong?  I think my grammar would have been wrongly.  And Dr Teague was suggesting you send your cytology cervical smears to his laboratory to have them read, did you continue to work until March 1996?  And he said ‘ he offered to do the smears for me if I didn’t feel able to continue to do so, I didn’t regard it as more than an offer’.  Of course, it's difficult after this passage of time I think that Dr Bottrill’s, I think that there was further questioning about this but his memory in certain respects was, I think as he said, suspect.

CHAIR:    Well anyway how he regarded the letter as a separate issue.

MR GRIEVE:    This is the conversation.

CHAIR:    Oh, the conversation, yes.  The interpretation he placed on it is Dr Teague’s not responsible for that.

MR GRIEVE:    No but the events show that it wasn’t brought home to Dr Bottrill that Dr Teague thought that there was a problem.

CHAIR:    Well we’ve got Dr Teague’s letter to him saying ‘you should get Telarc accredited, you should get your cytology read elsewhere’.

MR GRIEVE:    No, no, the letter didn’t say that Madam Chair, the letter as I’ve said yesterday was the false negative.

CHAIR:    Sorry.  But in the conversation he said you should get your cytology elsewhere and you should get Telarc accredited.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes.  What we’re saying is that after Dr Teague got the results from the review panel, that was the point at which he then should have followed that initial conversation up and said ‘look, there’s cause for concern here’.

CHAIR:    Very well, we’ve probably taken this as far as we can where we’ve gone over time but I wanted to conclude it.  When we come back, I would like you, before you move on to the next passage of the submission, to deal with the issue of how this is relevant to the terms of reference.  We’ll adjourn until 2.15.

INQUIRY ADJOURNS UNTIL 2.15 PM

2.15 PM INQUIRY RESUMES

CHAIR:    When you’re ready Mr Grieve.

MR GRIEVE:    You asked me about the terms of reference Madam Chair.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR GRIEVE:    My submission on that is this.  If I am right, if my submission is correct that Dr Teague’s conduct was such, no I should put it this way, if I am right that the circumstances known to him meant that he ought to have done something which was not done, then that is a professional practice which should be identified as needing change under term of reference 4.

CHAIR:    Could you tell me why there would be the need for change because in order for me to conclude and for the Committee to conclude that Dr Teague failed to do something he ought to have done, we would have to be convinced that part of the internal morality of pathologists was to report on the practice of someone like Dr Bottrill, in other words, that was a professional practice which he failed to adhere to.  So there would be no need to recommend a change of practice, it would be really making a finding that he had failed to adhere to the term of practice in place.

MR GRIEVE:     Well I suppose Madam Chair it is a matter of differentiating between what ought to have been done, what would be regarded as appropriate practice with what was in fact the practice and the thrust of my submission is that not only in the case of Dr Teague but in the case of Drs Tie and Linehan in different ways as I have mentioned in, that I have particularised in the submission.  There was an attitude which meant that the practice which ought to be followed was not followed and that it is that attitude which I then categorise as falling within the phrase professional practice which needs to change and it comes …. internal morality is I suppose a neat phrase which has been adopted during the hearings of course but it captures the philosophy as described by Professor Paul, namely that in this case health professionals, medical practitioners are ethically required to engage in a degree of self regulation.

CHAIR:    That’s the point, I haven’t seen the evidence that would really strongly suggest that they are supposed to do that.

MR GRIEVE:     Well you’ve asked me about that before Madam Chair, I can’t take that any further.

CHAIR:    No, apart from what Dr Farnsworth has said, that really is the only evidence about what ought to be done.

MR GRIEVE:    In terms of direct evidence into what another practitioner would have done, yes that is so, but there is evidence of about medical ethics in the form of the ethical codes that have been referred to, there’s the Medical Association’s code which is referred to before lunch, there is the ethical code referred to by the College in it's submission, not in it's submission sorry, in the brief of evidence.  So that there is evidence about ethical codes…..

CHAIR:    Yes, but what does it say?  What does it say specifically in relation to the duty to report?

MR GRIEVE:    I don’t think it says specifically that there is a duty to report Madam Chair but that doesn’t mean to say that there is no duty to report.  Frankly, that doesn’t follow logically at all.

CHAIR:    Well are you arguing that there ought to be a duty to report?

MR GRIEVE:    I’m arguing that there is a duty to report.

CHAIR:    I see.

MR GRIEVE:    As part of the medical practitioner’s obligations to patients, but there is a wider obligation to contribute towards the health and safety of the community in general.  Whether that impinges on a particular practitioner will depend on his or her knowledge of a given situation.

CHAIR:    If you say there is a duty to report, then there’s no need for change in terms of professional practices, because there is this duty, this is what I come back to.  What you’re talking about is someone or some persons who have failed to carry out the duty.

MR GRIEVE:    Well we say that on the evidence available to you, the practice is they don’t report and we say that that should change.

CHAIR:    There is legislation in the wind if it hasn’t already been passed which covers this situation, isn’t there?  It’s referred to in the Royal College’s submissions.  There is some change to the, it’s the Medical Practitioners Act.  Perhaps I read it in Mr Corkill’s submissions, I know last night I read it somewhere that there is legislation, there is change either made or contemplated which covers this reporting issue.  388.  382 of Mr Corkill’s submissions, thank you.

MR CORKILL:    Madam Chair I referred to Mr Baird’s evidence and his exhibit 15 which had a paper that the Medical Council has prepared in response to a Ministry of Health issues paper to do with whistle blowing and other amendments to the Medical Practitioners Act.

CHAIR:    Yes that's right.  So there is that change in practice being mooted Mr Grieve.  Apart from term of reference 4, is there any other term of reference?

MR GRIEVE:    There is of course term of reference 7 which as I said yesterday has not received a great deal of attention but it could come under that as well.

CHAIR:    What is the consequence, if there is an absence of internal morality in terms of a failure to report, what’s the consequence of it?

MR GRIEVE:    The consequence of it Madam Chair is that situations like this have a potential to develop again.

CHAIR:    In terms of what you have said about Dr Linehan in his failure to go back over slides in the past, I note that his answer to you, this appears at the bottom of paragraph 7.52, his answer to you was that’s possible and it would apply to any other laboratory that was reading smears from Gisborne women at the time.  It seems that whatever other laboratories were reading smears, there’s no evidence to show that they were coming forward either.  There may have been no need to, we don’t know, but there is a gap there in the evidence.

MR GRIEVE:    You mean that that if they were reading Dr Bottrill’s smears and ….

CHAIR:    And if they had a smear from a woman in Gisborne because we know that some of them were sent to the hospital

MR GRIEVE:    Yes

CHAIR:    And some of them were sent to Palmerston North, we don’t know whether they were doing a look back to see what the earlier smears were.

MR GRIEVE:    I see, so you are moving to the Linehan situation and look back?

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR GRIEVE:    Well that’s true, we don’t know whether they were doing it either.  There is no evidence about that but I suppose the rhetorical question because obviously you are not bound to answer it, but where does that take one?  The fact is that Dr Linehan’s laboratory acquired Gisborne’s laboratories and obviously they were then reading by far the greater percentage of smears in the Gisborne region from March 1996 onwards so that yes it may b e true that there were some other laboratories reading some of the Gisborne smears who weren’t doing the job properly but that doesn’t absolve Dr Linehan’s laboratory from responsibility in my submission, how can it?

CHAIR:    And where does this come within the terms of reference?  Would you say it comes under 6, further changes?

MR GRIEVE:    There was of course some discussion with Dr Linehan about, was it with Dr Linehan, there was certainly evidence about the need for regulation of the situation where one laboratory takes over another to ensure that there is proper cataloging of historical smears so that proper look back procedures can be followed.  So it would come in under …

CHAIR:    It would be 4 or 6 wouldn’t it?

MR GRIEVE:    4 or 6 yes.  It would certainly come in under 6 because it would be a proposal I suppose to ameliorate risks of under reporting.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR GRIEVE:    Now, Madam Chair am I to take it from that question that we’ve moved on.

CHAIR:    I have.

MR GRIEVE:    That leaves Sections 8 and 9.  Do you have any questions regarding 8, I think we’ve probably dealt with 9 yesterday because 9 largely deals with the issue of compensation.

CHAIR:    I’ve made a note of 8.9, I’ve asked where that relates to the terms of reference.  You presumably relate it to 4 and 6 again and perhaps, it’s not something that would lead to under reporting but really it assists in discovering whether or not there has been under reporting.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes, I would’ve thought Madam Chair that if there is evidence which discloses that the situation that developed in Gisborne could have been discovered significantly sooner with obvious consequential beneficial effects for all those women concerned, then the reasons why the situation was not discovered sooner would certainly be an issue that ought to be believed to be of particularly relevance under term of reference 7.

CHAIR:    Yes, because all the other terms of reference seem to be focused at looking at what could have lead to under reporting, what can be done to remove the risk of under reporting whereas what we’re now talking about is discovering that it has occurred and doing so quickly so that you can improve matters.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes and so, I mean one could perhaps argue that it comes in under 4, changes to laboratory processes, professional practices, although it’s probably straining somewhat.

CHAIR:    Yes it could perhaps come in under 8 to make recommendations consistent with Section 4a because 4a of the Health & Disability Services Act is to secure for the people of New Zealand the best health.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes.

CHAIR:    And one way of securing the best health is having processes in place which will ensure that if there are medical practices that are in error that they will be picked up promptly so that the least damage is done.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes but I would have thought that that was particularly a matter that would come in under term of reference 7 with however narrowly one might want to construe that term.

CHAIR:    The next point that I wanted to ask you about in 9, you have raised the issue of compensation.  In New Zealand you are aware we have the Accident Compensation legislation and the principle of no fault, accidents are seen as being a part of modern life.  Therefore, given that in this country no one can sue for personal injury as a result of negligence and receive compensatory damages, why should the women of Gisborne be treated any differently from any other New Zealander who suffered personal injury as a result of a negligent act?

MR GRIEVE:    I suppose Madam Chair the logical answer to that is that depending upon your findings, but one could say that there is ample evidence to justify the submission that to a significant extent the responsibility for their plight lies at the feet of Government or respective Governments, the Ministry of Health of a lengthy period and these women or most of them were entitled to place their confidence in the screening programme and all the associated procedures and if that is let them down and we submit that it has, then the Government should be prepared to make some sort of ex gratia payment to them.

CHAIR:    But the women who were effected in the Cartwright inquiry applied to sue in Green & Matheson and their claim was struck out.  They were not able to sue for compensatory damages, why should the women of Gisborne be treated differently?

MR GRIEVE:    I think that the Cartwright women retained a right to sue for exemplary damages, and that was…

CHAIR:    Yes, that's right.  And so do the women of Gisborne.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes, the difficulty is of course is that as far as claims for exemplary damages are concerned as we know to our cost, they are extraordinarily difficult to succeed on and whether the individual women wish to embark on that process at this stage, I don’t know.  I think I can only repeat what I’ve said that given the level of Government involvement or responsibility for what has happened and given the extent of the suffering has been caused, in my submission, common justice requires that the Government be required to pay compensation for that.

CHAIR:    there is nothing expressly in the inquiry’s terms of reference which deals with compensation is there?

MR GRIEVE:    No.

CHAIR:    And you accept that we have lived in an environment since, I can’t remember whether it is 1974 or 1972 when we have lived with the notion that there is no fault for personal injury, that accidents are part of modern life and that people commit error.

MR GRIEVE:    That’s the reality, I accept that.  That’s the position, doesn’t mean to say I have to like it.

CHAIR:    No but would you be better in putting your efforts towards lobbying the Minister for compensation because it’s asking a lot of this inquiry to make recommendations that the women affected should be treated in a way which Parliament in New Zealand has turned its face against since the 1970’s and it has remained in that fashion.

MR GRIEVE:    Of course this invites an embarkation on a discussion about the whole philosophy, about the Accident Compensation legislation because when it was implemented initially, there was provision for lump sum compensation and one could have expected that these women would have been entitled to reasonably significant, certainly in those days, payments of a lump sum.

CHAIR:    That was abandoned in 95.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes I know that and in my submission the social contract has been broken by Government and so these women get nothing.  They’ve lost their right to sue effectively and they get no compensation by act of Government.  Now it may be that there were fiscal realities involved in that but that’s the harsh reality for them and in submission, you have the opportunity to make adverse comment about that situation and make a recommendation that in fact for those reasons, quite apart from the suffering and the justification for their claims, you have the opportunity to make a recommendation to Government that it might may well heed that something should be paid to these women.

CHAIR:    That would mean that they were in a privileged position because their plight happens to be the subject to a Committee of Inquiry which therefore has the power to make recommendations where as others who also suffer personal injury in this country, and it may be at the hands of State Sector employees, are prevented from suing for compensatory damages and therefore will get no payments.

MR GRIEVE:    The reality of that is correct, although on the other hand, the victims of the Cave Creek disaster were paid compensation by the Crown after an inquiry….

CHAIR:    I don’t know what the terms of reference were of that inquiry.  I don’t know what the basis of the payment was.  So in the absence of knowing whether it was part of the inquiry’s role to look into that, I think I have to accept the legal situation as it is spelt out by Parliament which is that no person in this country can sue for personal injury and receive compensatory damages.

MR GRIEVE:    Madam Chair I’m not suggesting that’s not the legal situation, we all know what the legal situation is of course, but that does not mean that you can’t make recommendations either that the legal situation be changed if you were so minded, or that the special situation of these women should be considered.

CHAIR:    Yes, as to the first that would be stretching term of reference 7 a long way.  You would be turning the inquiry into a hearing into ACC.  As to the second, what I want to hear from you is if you want the Committee to make a recommendation for an ex gratia payment, what I therefore want to know is why should the women affected enjoy the benefit of an ex gratia payment when any other person whose suffered a personal injury is not going to receive an ex gratia benefit or payment.

MR GRIEVE:    All I can point to Madam Chair is this, this is an unusual situation, it is not the case of a single woman, it is the case of a whole community many of whom have suffered grievously, not only in terms of their direct health, some of them as we know have recovered tolerably well.  It’s had wide ramifications for them, it’s affected their family, their friends, their whanau and I imagine those ill effects will remain with this community for a long time.  So that it is an unusual situation, this inquiry has been set up to examine the causes and is doing so and that is an unusual situation in itself and in my submission, it’s appropriate that the opportunity be taken to make a recommendation that those who have suffered be paid some compensation for what they have suffered.  It may be that the logical justification for that is slender, so be it.

CHAIR:    That really is turning compensation into almost a form of exemplary damages because what you are saying is, I mean every woman has suffered, and what you are saying is that if one woman suffers, then the general law applies.  But if 50, 100 women suffer, the enormity of that, and it doesn’t mean that their individual suffering is any of the greater, the individual suffering remains the same, but you’re saying the enormity of so many women suffering justifies a payment which is really like saying here those responsible for the scheme have acted in such a reprehensible way that they should have to pay those who suffered under it because so many have.  You cannot just excuse what has happened on the grounds it’s a simple error, it’s something akin to gross negligence.

MR GRIEVE:    Well Madam Chair, I submit that the institutional negligence on the part of those responsible for administration of the screening programme and related services is such that it merits that recommendation.

CHAIR:    Do you see there being a basis in law for that?  I mean an ex gratia payment is more likely to be made if it is seen as a sort of anticipated prevention of litigation.

MR GRIEVE:    Well I certainly don’t have any authority as I stand here Madam Chair to indicate that the women affected would accept such a payment, but if you were to recommend that consideration was to be given to a process which would lead to an ex gratia payment then that would give the individual affected who could appropriate damage the opportunity to agree to abandon any right to litigation that they might have.

CHAIR:    You would agree with me that for those who suffered the greatest in the sense that they’ve lost their lives, the Law Reform Act prevents them bringing a claim for exemplary damages?

MR GRIEVE:    Yes.

CHAIR:    So in a sense, those who suffered the greatest can’t even sue for exemplary damages, those who are still alive can so long as they remain alive.

MR GRIEVE:    Their families I think could sue.

CHAIR:    No I don’t think they can.  The Chase case is the authority for saying

MR GRIEVE:    I know about the case Madam Chair ………

CHAIR:    Exemplary damages are personal.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes true.  I think I had in mind the nervous shocks but that’s got its own difficulties….

CHAIR:    Yes the families would have to show that they have suffered a nervous shock such that it meets the tests for the tort of nervous shock and they should be compensated.

MR GRIEVE:    Yes.

CHAIR:    Right, are there any other matters you wish to add?

MR GRIEVE:    No Madam Chair.

CHAIR:    Right, thank you very much.   Yes Mr Murray.

MR MURRAY:    If I could just be heard briefly on it.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR MURRAY:    A matter arising out of Mr Rennie’s submissions this morning.  I’m just conscious that we heard from counsel for the women who had quite an economical brief and there’s another such bigger brief coming.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR MURRAY:    I’ve just been reflecting during the submissions about whether there is a different way to tackle this, I haven’t had a chance to consult with all my colleagues but it seems we’re in a situation where we have counsel’s requirements being relatively minimal out of this hearing and I’m sure that counsel’s requirements are not going to take many days at all.

CHAIR:    No.

MR MURRAY:    The inquiry’s requirements are quire considerable and my submissions is that we can abbreviate the process if the inquiry was minded to retreat and deliberate and issue a procedural direction in relation to each party’s submissions, identifying points of particular concern about which more evidence references I required or clarification is required and so on.  And I believe that that would meet the requirements of both sides in a fairly economical way.

CHAIR:    I doubt it would Mr Murray because a lot of these questions I am asking are just flowing from earlier questions.  I wouldn’t think of them if I was sitting in a room of my own.  That might please you but I’m afraid that’s the situation.

MR MURRAY:    Well I think Madam Chair, if I can just pursue it a bit further, that one of the values of it is that it enables an inquiry panel to deliberate among themselves particularly while Professor Duggan is down in New Zealand.

CHAIR:    Yes well we are and how much time we spend with each party ultimately is governed by our having read the submissions in advance and our thoughts on these submissions so for the moment, unless you want to register any formal objection to the process we are following, I intend to follow it.

MR MURRAY:    Yes well I feel duty bound to keep testing this because I can see that time is going by and at the end of the day, it’s the inquiry’s inquiry.

CHAIR:    That's right, thank you.  Mr Corkill?

MR CORKILL:    Thank you Madam Chair.  I just want to deal with a couple of housekeeping matters first if I may.  The first is to mention one or two typographical errors that I need to correct.

CHAIR:    Unless they affect the sense of the submission, don’t worry.

MR CORKILL:    Well yes, one does.  Page 15, I got completely the wrong person named.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:    Page 15, paragraph 9.3, line 3.  Originally by Dr Bottrill.

CHAIR:    Right.

MR CORKILL:    I’ll just check the others.  Yes there is one other one which affects sense and that is page 160, fourth bullet point, line 2 ‘such study should not be regarded as research’.

CHAIR:    Right.

MR CORKILL:    Now, I want to hand up Madam Chair, you will have seen in my submission that I referred to the number of cases and other materials that are not already before you any self respecting submission to this inquiry it should be accompanied by documents and so I now do so.

CHAIR:    Thank you.

MR CORKILL:    I’m not going to take you through that Madam Chair in any detail, I may refer in one or two incidences but if you just look at the index now, you will get a feel for what’s in the volume.

CHAIR:    Right.

MR CORKILL:    As I say, I will touch on one or two incidences on material but essentially it is just there for you so that everything I have referred to is available one way or another.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:    I want to use my time in this way, I have a couple of general preliminary matters I want to tease out somewhat in response to the Ministry’s submission.  I propose then to particularly in the systemic issues that is terms of reference 2, I have a handful of rebuttal points I want to deal with arising from the Ministry’s submission.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:    It will be my practice to take everything as read, although I will move through my submission in a chronological or a sequential way, it will be up to the Committee to stop me on the way through.

CHAIR:    Thank you Mr Corkill.

MR CORKILL:    There is one part of my submission I do want to discuss in a little more detail and that is the recommendations at the end.

CHAIR:    Certainly.

MR CORKILL:    It seems to me that we’ve spent a lot of time looking at history and not so much time looking at the positive recommendations that might be made and one of the things I want to say to this Committee is that that the Committee needs to be encouraged to be as envisionary as possible and to try and brainstorm if you like as many constructive suggestions that might be made.  And I have endeavoured to set the ball rolling on some of those with the recommendations at the end and therefore I feel it is important to discuss those some more.

CHAIR:    Right, thank you.

MR CORKILL:    I’m going to go primarily or firstly to page 37, but I’m conscious that I’m going past the passage or the section on the woman affected.  And so I ask are there any questions arising from that material, it was really intended to be something of an index to the evidence in relation to the individual woman and an attempt to pull it together so that you could see some broad conclusions that might be drawn from that evidence.

CHAIR:    One of the concerns I had when reading your submission on this part and particularly the reference you’d made to Dr Wayne’s evidence, I think your paragraph 28 refers to patients 1, 4, 7, 8 and 9.

MR CORKILL:    Yes.

CHAIR:    It seemed to me that the import of all this, putting aside the impact on the women concerned, was to underscore the need for a clinical audit of the histories of the women.  In other words, the very cancer audit that Professor Skegg was talking about where you would take the incidence of cancer, go back, look at it, look at the smear tests, look at the whole clinical management so that for example where we see that questions could be raised about the clinical management, could the GP’s or gynaecologists or clinicians treating these patients have acted sooner, that would be picked up in a clinical audit.

MR CORKILL:    Yes Madam Chair I wasn’t attempting to submit that in any way it undercuts the clinical audit.  The clinical audit in the end as I look back on the smear reading process…

CHAIR:    No I wasn’t saying it undercut it, I said it underscored the need for a clinical audit which of course has not taken place.

MR CORKILL:    Yes, I agree with that.

CHAIR:    Yes, thank you, that was all.  Happy to move on from there.

MR CORKILL:    If we can go therefore please to page 37, I’ve made some brief statements about the width of the terms of reference as I see them in paragraphs 53, 4 and 5 and I conclude at 6 that you are required to conduct a broad inquiry.  The real point I am really wanting to draw all out of that is that at this stage I have treated of many of what I have called ‘latent factors’ which in essence are systemic factors.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:    I have treated them under term of reference 2 but they are equally applicable to term of reference 3 and probably other terms of references as well.  But for convenience, I have grouped them there but it is my submission at the end of the day that the terms of inquiry are very broad and you are required to look at those matters.

CHAIR:    And you would read that as requiring the indirect factors as well as the direct?

MR CORKILL:    Yes I do.  I submit that looking at term of reference 2 in the context of the terms of reference as a whole, it’s clear that it’s broad and therefore going back to 2, one can legitimately regard the factors as being both direct and indirect.

CHAIR:    Just pause there.  Yes continue.

MR CORKILL:    Now I just want to touch on paragraph 57 which is where I have referred to this quite well known text about human error by reason and I’ve included the extract in my material.  I want to draw your attention also, that’s a very helpful form of analysis that’s been used in a number of major disasters and catastrophes but it’s also been used in the medical sphere and I have included in the materials at page 29 following, an extract from a quite recent UK publication, published by the UK Department of Health called ‘An Organisation with a Memory”.  It is a report of an expert group on the learning from adverse events in the NHS, you see there the forward, if I can take you please to page 33, and at paragraph 8 you see precisely the analysis that I have suggested might be of assistance to you where the authors say that the various factors which lead to adverse incidence as they are called are a combination of active failures, that is unsafe acts committed by those working at the sharp end of a system which are usually short lived and often unpredictable, and secondly latent conditions that can develop over time and lie dormant before combining with other factors or acts of failures to breach a system’s safety defenses.

CHAIR:    Would your view be that if you’ve got adequate processes in place when you’re running a screening programme, you’re going to pick up the unsafe pathologist.

MR CORKILL:    Absolutely and it’s my thesis in a nutshell that when you look at all the systemic aspects as we’re going to, they were latent problems within the system which allowed the active failures then to occur and that’s why I’ve firstly analysed all those systemic matters from a latent point of view if you like before I go on and look at the flags and the triggers and what have you.

CHAIR:    Yes, thank you.

MR CORKILL:    Whilst I’m dealing with these general matters, I also want to touch on causation for the purposes of term of reference 2.  Term of reference 2 talks about identifying factors “that are likely to have lead” to under reporting.

CHAIR:    I’ve made some notes for myself from paragraphs 63 to 67, if you’re moving ahead, I’ll deal with them.  If not, I’ll listen to you.

MR CORKILL:    I’m happy to go to that in a moment Madam Chair.  I’m still dealing with the overall framework within which my submission arises.  I’m prompted to say this by a submission that’s made at paragraph 172 of the Ministry’s submission where, and I’ll read it out “it is submitted that the 1993 health reforms did not lead to in the sense of causing any under reporting, all the causes of Dr Bottrill’s under reporting were already operative before the new Act came into force as a matter of logic that law reform could not have caused something which already existed”.  I don’t want to debate at this minute the significance of the reforms, what I want to raise with you is the general matter that I think arises there which is causation for terms of reference 2 because it's my submission the Committee can be assisted in thinking about what is a cause and what isn’t by the general law of causation in tort and in particular the so called ‘but for’ test.  But for the negligence of a party, the adverse event would not have arisen and in this case, continued.

CHAIR:    It seems to me also that what the Ministry of Health, Health Funding Authority are doing in 172 is by saying well causes of Dr Bottrill’s under reporting were operative before the 93 Act, therefore the 93 health reforms didn’t lead to under reporting.  That is attempting to freeze in time causation factors or factors that may have lead to under reporting.  It seems to me you could have an existence, a group of factors that lead to under reporting then you get new factors come in to being which themselves may, and I leave that open now, may also lead to under reporting.  Now the fact that there are already in existence certain factors leading to under reporting cannot remove the impact of any additional factors when they come into being if they themselves will lead to under reporting in the sense that they make a contribution to it.

MR CORKILL:    And that leads neatly to the point I wanted to make which is that there’s been a very helpful tort decision from the High Court of Australia quite recently on the whole issue of causation in the medical sphere called Chapel and Hart for which it is not in my bundle unfortunately because I was prompted to raise this in the weekend when I saw the Ministry’s submission.  But Chapel and Hart has reported at 1998, 72ALJR at 1344 and I’m happy to abandon my copy of it in favour of yourself.

CHAIR:    We can get copies run off.

MR CORKILL:    Thank you Madam Chair.  Essentially the majority held in that case that at the end of the day causation is a commonsense exercise and it’s not helpful to get into particular rules either as to foreseeability or proximity or any of those concepts to try and define what the process of causation.  At the end of the day it's a commonsense exercise and you will apply your collective commonsense in reaching that point.  There’s also on page 1365 of the report reference to the but for rule that I spoke about.  The court made the point that the but for approach isn’t always helpful and indeed is sometimes distinctly unhelpful but it's one of the approaches that can be adopted.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:    Now I’m sure Madam Chair that you are aware of other recent decisions in other contexts in New Zealand where those sort of ideas have been conveyed that causation is a commonsense concept and that’s all I’m merging on the panel.

CHAIR:    Yes, thank you.

MR CORKILL:    Coming on Madam Chair to one other preliminary matter and then we can go to blame, at paragraph 134 of the Ministry’s submission there is a general point made about what is called the power of hindsight bias.  There’s some authority here and reference to a University of Chicago law review decision of this matter.  Now of course a panel of this nature, a court must always recognise the wisdom of hindsight, but it's my submission that a very important theme right throughout the chronology in this proceeding that is before you, is not to do with hindsight and people’s judgement in hindsight, it's about the wisdom of foresight.  The chronology is littered with views being expressed by people like Professor Skegg and Dr Cox and Mrs Marshall and Ms Coney, you’ve heard from them all.

CHAIR:    The Stratton report, the experts’ report, the 1994 CSAC report, they set out their concerns there all focusing on the need for monitoring and evaluation.

MR CORKILL:    On the way through, so this was contemporaneous advice, these are not witnesses who have come along and said after the event it would’ve been a much better idea if they’d done this or that.  So I see one of the major concerns in this inquiry to be about foresight and not hindsight.

CHAIR:    So you would say that there is ample evidence before the inquiry of people at the time saying these things should be done but they weren’t done.

MR CORKILL:    Absolutely, that’s the central thesis of what I’m about to address in the systemic matters.  Madam Chair I think you had something to raise with me about blame.

CHAIR:    You’ve given me a copy of the Davies and Transport, you have.

MR CORKILL:    Yes.

CHAIR:    Is your interpretation, I’m only at the moment working from the passages you’ve quoted from Davies and then Davies’ quote from Whalewatch and from you’ve said, but it seems to me the essence of what was being said is that we should attempt to identify factors that have lead to under reporting whether or not there is systemic issues and if in the course of doing, we have to identify what was done or what ought to have been done and who should have done it, those findings might well allow inferences of blame to be drawn by anyone reading the report.  It seemed to me that that was certainly within our terms of reference but it was not for us to go the extra step and make express findings of blame worthiness in the way that one would in a civil case.

MR CORKILL:    Yes I certainly agree with that distinction Madam Chair and I can only really say that I agree with the discussion you had with my learned colleague yesterday, where he made this statement, he said ‘the fact of responsibility has to be sheeted home to whoever is responsible for it but I agree that you are sitting here ruling on a set of civil pleadings, you are not here to say so and so has committed the crime of such and such’, and so in that sense formal blame or accountability is not to be determined by this Committee but there may well be instances in this chronology where in order to reach a conclusion as to what is a causative matter leading to under reporting, you have to say now Mr so and so should have at that point done something.  A ready example that comes to mind in my submission is Mr Mules, I am very critical in this submission about the failure of Mr Mules when that correspondence came in and the knowledge that he had etc. etc. did not take the same step in relation to Gisborne laboratories as he did in relation to the Rotorua Hospital.  That’s an example of where I submit one can’t avoid making a finding that he should have done something that he didn’t do and that leads onto a conclusion that because this individual didn’t react as he, only he could have, you’ve got a trigger or you’ve got an act of error in the process.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:    The other point I might make Madam Chair about the Davies case is that it of course is in the context of Section 4 of the Transport Accident Investigation Act which actually says, and I think another example is the Coroners Act, says that the principle purpose of the commission shall be to determine the circumstances and causes of accidents and incidents with a view to avoiding similar occurrences in the future, rather than to ascribe blame to any person.

CHAIR:    Right.

MR CORKILL:    And it is making that distinction between civil or indeed other liability and the particular purposes of that Act and the Coroners Act I think is another example.  There is no such rider in your terms of reference, there is nothing in the terms of reference that says thou shalt not ascribe blame and so I actually say that there is no impediment to you making firm findings where those are needed.

CHAIR:    I think there is a general principle that Committees or Commissions of Inquiry are there to investigate into why something has gone wrong but it's not part of their role to make individual findings of blame.  I think there is something about that in the Erebus decision, I’m not 100% sure but I know I’ve read it somewhere.  Mr Murray might be able to help me because he was the one who raised this point.

MR MURRAY:    I wonder if I could be so as immodest as to refer to an article in November 1999 Law Journal where I addressed some of these issues and in particular, the Erebus case because it contrasted neatly with the Transport Accident Investigation Commission Investigation actually it was the Office of Air Accidents Investigation in those days, the body that preceded take, but you had an interesting contrast between the Chippendale Investigation which was not to inquire and to blame because of the regulations that applied, the equivalent of the take? Act where as there were different terms of reference for the Royal Commission into the Erebus case which did raise questions of responsibility and almost blame, it was debatable.  But that shows neatly the contrast but in my submission the principle you are referring to is correct but to try and find clear authority for it is actually quite a challenge.

CHAIR:    Right, thank you Mr Murray.  Well, Mr Corkill it seems to me that looking at it in a commonsense way, in order to be able to make recommendations and changes, we have to identify what went wrong and in identifying what went wrong, obviously there is going to at times that will reflect on those persons who were involved.

MR CORKILL:    Yes.  I don’t think I can put it any more clearly than I have.  Madam Chair I am not moving onto Section 3 which is the Latent Factors.

CHAIR:    Just before you do that, under 67 you have referred to Latent Factors, contributory factors to under reporting and at 67.1.5 you’ve referred to monitoring and evaluation.  Another factor that has become my bug there is this one of access to information …

MR CORKILL:    Yes.

CHAIR:    Because without information you can’t monitor and evaluate and it seems to me therefore that a contributing factor is this whole fog in which people are working about access to information and whether for a start what is the legal extent to which you can get access to information and then what in fact has been happening in terms of information being accessible.

MR CORKILL:    Yes I agree with that.  Two points, first of all, this list is by no means conclusive, it’s really just designed to assist the Committee to pull this huge mass of information together into some sort of logical presentation.  The second point is, is that I have touched on both the clinical audit issue as a sub-topic of evaluation….

CHAIR:    Yes I see that.

MR CORKILL:    And I think I also somewhere in there talked about the statistical reports again as another subsequent category so that’s entirely in accord with my position.

CHAIR:    Right, thank you.

MR CORKILL:    Now Madam Chair my next …..

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Mr Corkill, before you move.  With regard to the access to information, would you consider that the accuracy of the information was a latent factor?  Repeatedly we’ve heard concerns about the robustness of data.

MR CORKILL:    The short answer to the question is yes and I can think of two examples.  One is the way in which it was presented and I’m thinking of, for instance, the August 1996 summary of laboratory statistics which in the end I think the consensus was, was that it was a misleading document.  So there is accuracy in that sense having regard to presentation and the statistical reports themselves have similar problems.  The other matter that touches on accuracy, it goes to being a latent factor is the dreadful delay in relation to the filing of histology which has essentially precluded proper correlation and only by a special effort was, in any sort of updated position, able to be placed before the inquiry for the purposes of Tairawhiti and it seems that there are still holes in the presentation of that information.  Now if the histology is not up to date then that correlation is not accurate at the end of the day.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    There’s also the issue of the coding errors.

MR CORKILL:    Indeed, I’m sure there are others.

CHAIR:    Yes I note that in the European guidelines paragraph 2.10 Mechanisms for Gathering Data, it says before cervical screening can be implemented, mechanisms for gathering essential data for the day to day operation of the programme and for statistical purposes must be in place.

MR CORKILL:    Yes.

CHAIR:    And earlier on, it talks about essential data being necessary to monitor the programmes.  You would see that as a contributing factor?

MR CORKILL:    Yes I do.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    I don’t know if you’ve seen the documents submitted by Professor Skegg, the most recent documents?

MR CORKILL:    Yes I have.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    There he expresses some concern about the accuracy of the data in the Cancer Registry, even today.

MR CORKILL:    Indeed, yes.  Whether that touches on term of reference 2 or whether that becomes an important piece of evidence when it comes onto recommendations, I suspect it may be more the latter, but one of the submissions I’ve made in here is to do with the whole question of adequate resources for the Cancer Register and you may recall the evidence I think of Professor Skegg himself that he felt the Cancer Register needs more staff.

CHAIR:    Sorry to interrupt but the World Health Organisation in 1986 put a document out Control of Cancer of the Cervix ? and there at page 615, they say in order to properly determine the effect of a screening programme, it’s necessary that data on the frequency of screening and on cervical cancer incidence and mortality should be available for the time periods before, during the start and after the programme has been implemented.  The effect of screening cannot be judged unless base lying data are available.  And there is another part as well here that says, at page 611, it says deficiencies and record keeping in cytology laboratories and cancer registries make the administration, monitoring and evaluation of activities very difficult if not impossible.

MR CORKILL:    There’s many things that can be said about that material you are referring to Madam Chair and not the least of which is that it was on the table here in New Zealand, at least from 1994, it was an appendix, or some of that paper was an appendix to the CSAC report of 1994…

CHAIR:    Yes, and being a World Health Organisation bulletin published in 1986, you would’ve though the Ministry of Health would have had access to it from the time screening programme began.

MR CORKILL:    Indeed.

CHAIR:    actually that document wasn’t put forward with the CSAC report it was the European guidelines.

MR CORKILL:    Yes I’m not looking at the one you’ve got.  The European guidelines were but I think I’m right in saying that the other document you also found helpful Madam Chair, which I think it was another Cox exhibit produced by the World Health Organisation is footnoted in the CSAC report.

CHAIR:    Right.

MR CORKILL:    I’ve made the point in my submission that clearly that document was on the table from 1994 onwards.  Madam Chair I am going to address you now in relation to page 48 of my submission, but perhaps if I go back to 47, this is a series of factors that I have addressed in relation to the establishment of the programme and I’ve mentioned in this Section at 88 two particular matters.  First the use of the 14 registers and secondly the location of the programme within the department itself.  And at 89, I’ve mentioned the concerns of various witnesses about the programme residing in the department but I’ve gone on to make a point at 90 about the disjointed fashion in which the programme was implemented.  And if you go through those particular references that I’ve set out there, you’ll see the various witnesses talking about, in the case of Ms Coney, she talked about the unfortunate pressure to get it going and the decision was then made politically to set the programme up but then as she put it, activity came to a grinding halt and this was her description of the way in which establishment proceeded.  But I particularly wanted to draw attention to the Marshall passage where she is referring there to some expert group minutes and the fact that insufficient time was given to evaluating the pilot programmes in both Marlborough and Wanganui and I’m just wanting to draw attention to the fact that the expert group clearly saw that factor as another unfortunate matter that wasn’t seen to fruition before the programme was actually commenced.  So one goes through those various references but there is one perhaps that I’ve omitted that is equally important and that is that there was no review of laboratory services before the programme was commenced.  I want to give you two references which drew attention before the programme started to the need to do something like this.  In 1988, the department itself recognised that there should be a review of laboratory services and the reference for this is in Boyd, tab 10, page 144.  This is actually quite a helpful document and it's not one that necessarily received much detention in evidence but I thought it helpful to draw attention to it because it’s dated as one sees from the interlever itself as dated September 1988 and it's quite a good snapshot of some of the matters that the department clearly had considered and was addressing before the programme implemented.

CHAIR:    Right.

MR CORKILL:    If you go for instance to page 144 in the bundle.

CHAIR:    Yes.  Oh yes, I’ve made a note here, need for review of laboratory services.

MR CORKILL:    Yes well that was exactly what I was drawing attention to but just while we’re in the document, 148 under specific funding, funding allocation on a national basis will be essential and I submit that carries an inference of adequate funding to make sure that the programme was properly functional.  On page 152 at paragraph 8, the department will consult laboratories providing cytology services on the further development of quality control measures to ensure that cytological services in laboratories maintain a high standard.  I think again that is an important statement at that stage of the chronology.

CHAIR:    Yes.  Would you consider that given that in New Zealand at the time of the programme was being implemented, it was known that there was no requirement for laboratories to be accredited with any accrediting agency in the way that Australian laboratories were accredited, would that indicate to you a greater need to have a review of laboratories services before a screening programme were implemented.

MR CORKILL:    I think it fits in, in that way.  I also submit that the whole issue of volumes assumes greater importance for the same reason.  If there’s going to be a time lag in getting people Telarc accredited, and we know that Dr Stratton said that needed to be dealt with according to a strict timetable, but even given that then all the more was the need to address volumes in a constructive way at the outset.

CHAIR:    I might be jumping the gun here but have you seen any impediment to the Department of Health when the programme was first set up actually making it a requirement of laboratories doing cyto screening for the purposes of the programme that they read a minimum number of smears per annum and that they be Telarc accredited.

MR CORKILL:    I can’t say that I’ve seen a specific reference in the evidence that shows why the bullet wasn’t bitten.  I’m prepared to submit however that it has to do with the reluctance of the pathologists to recognise that that particular requirement needed to be in place, that they needed to accept the reality of it and that for some they would not thereby be able to do it.  I was at some stage going to talk about volumes, we can do that now.

CHAIR:    Is it your submission, I’ve read so many all at once, I can’t be sure now who said it.  Someone deals with the advice from Mr Clark saying you can’t use the social security regulations, it is your submission that deals with that isn’t it?

MR CORKILL:    Well I say that that advice was singularly unfortunate and again Madam Chair perhaps if I move through these topics as I can.  I’m going to talk about the social security, whatever they were, regulations.

CHAIR:    Yes, I’d like to hear about that.  We’ll stop for a break but I’d like to hear about that because it's another example of legal confusion having quite an impact, because if the opinion is right, fine, if it's wrong, the opportunity to impose Telarc accreditation as a condition of payment while the Ministry was making payment under regulations was lost…

MR CORKILL:    Yes, that’s right.

CHAIR:    There have been a number of incidents which I think could be said one of the factors that the Committee of Inquiry may wish to comment on is the quality of legal advice the Ministry has been receiving over the years because that has had a very real impact on the programme’s delivery.

MR CORKILL:    Yes Madam Chair I am happy to address you on that.

CHAIR:    Thank you.

INQUIRY ADJOURNS UNTIL 3.50

CHAIR:    When you’re ready Mr Corkill.

MR CORKILL:    Thank you, if I could just finalise what I was saying about the review of laboratory services.  I gave you that reference from Boyd, I’ve referred to the Stratton report, two examples in 1998 and 1990 as to the criticism made by witnesses of no such review, please note Cox and B2650 lines 5 to 19 and a couple of Marshall exhibits EAM/CS/19, page 18 and EAMCS 28.

CHAIR:    Thank you.

MR CORKILL:    Now, the next topic I wanted to address and I’m not overlooking the topic you mentioned of the social security regs or volumes, I’m actually going to come to those in due course.  The next topic I wanted to address is in the context of Telarc accreditation, that’s my page 58 following.

CHAIR:    Just before you do that, if you could go to 53 please, it talked about adequacy of resources.

MR CORKILL:    Yes.

CHAIR:    105.2 you’ve said there is a low priority given to monitoring and evaluation, when you say that, that is a matter of inference you draw from the evidence.

MR CORKILL:    For two reasons, the answer is yes and I do that for two reasons.  One is time taken and we’ve got this long winded history about monitoring and evaluation that's recorded in these submissions.  Secondly, the extraordinary time taken to implement such audit and then the second reason is the decision to implement only three of the 15 recommendations.  I see both those factors as leading to that inference of low priority.

CHAIR:    And following on from that, the fact that of those three factors, I think it's only two have actually been carried out …

MR CORKILL:    Yes that’s right.

CHAIR:    And one hasn’t been carried out at all.

MR CORKILL:    Yes and I think I’m right in saying that Ms Handiside may have expressed reference to low priority or words to that effect, Mrs Barrett’s nodding so I must be right.

CHAIR:    And in terms of 105.3, you say statistical reports where the victim of resource constraints, is there a possibility that they’re a victim of legal constraints as well in the sense that what type of information is made available to those preparing the reports and then how that is disclosed is going to depend on the law relating to information.  That's 74a of the Health Act and however the Ministry might see the workings of the Privacy Act and Code.

MR CORKILL:    My answer to that is hypothetically, yes.  As a matter of fact, no.  The reason I draw that distinction is because there is no evidence that delayed statistical reports or indeed monitoring and evaluation did not come about because of problems over 74a as we know, those problems have only surfaced in the last 12 months.

CHAIR:    What does that suggest to you the fact that the problems have only surfaced in the last 12 months?

MR CORKILL:    Well it suggests to me that nobody’s got that far before.

CHAIR:    And the fact that once they did surface they still remain problems today, what does that indicate to you?

MR CORKILL:    Well I’m acutely, as counsel for the woman affected, I’m acutely concerned about that and I think Madam Chair you know, because I put it in the memorandum last week that I wrote to the Minister some two weeks ago, on the 1st of September, and invited to her to use the bill that is currently before the house as a means of a quick fix and we can get into the detail of that perhaps after we hear back from Mr Murray.  But I echo the point you made this morning that even if you look at the last 12 months, unfortunately this issue has not been moved along expeditiously, arguably those who knew about it when they heard Professor Skegg’s evidence in April of this year might have been persuaded to do something about it.  In recent weeks, I have asked for an indication of whether the Ministry thinks the matter can be fixed by regulation, and if so, to advise me of the form of that regulation, and I’ve been told ‘well sorry, we haven’t got an answer’.

CHAIR:    Yes well the problem there I think is, have you seen the Crown Law opinion?

MR CORKILL:    Yes.

CHAIR:    Yes because the Crown Law opinion basically rules out using regulations, it suggests regulations would be ultra vires So you can see why they’re now reticent about using regulations.

MR CORKILL:    What it all comes back to Madam Chair is I think if this quite significant problem, let’s put it another way, if there had been a willingness to carry out a proper clinical audit as was advised right from 1991 onwards by CSAC, you see some of the early references there toward it of this kind, and I’ve set it out later in my submission the chronology, if there had been a serious attempt to implement that advice, I think it is a reasonable inference that legal problems would have been discovered and something would have been done about it.

CHAIR:    The other point is that the advice on the need for monitoring and evaluation was coming in at an early stage if we look at your chronology, it was certainly coming before Section 74a was passed, that was passed in 93

MR CORKILL:    Yes.

CHAIR:    As it was, the form it was in as a bill, a bill promoted by the Ministry of Health, what comment do you have to make on the Ministry of Health promoting legislation in the form which ultimately 74a turned out, I mean it may have been interfered with by select committees or parliament, I don’t know.

MR CORKILL:    No we don’t have evidence about that.  Well I say it was a foreseeable matter, obviously we’ve got CSAC saying strongly as it was in 1991 and 1992, then of course one recognises the privacy concerns at the time, Judge Cartwright had referred to privacy in her report and in some sense, that was a driver for 74a.  But she had also placed emphasis on quality assurance…

CHAIR:    Yes, yes.

MR CORKILL:    And that’s the other side of it.

CHAIR:    From my reading of all the evidence I haven’t seen anything to suggest for example that the Ministry being fully aware of the advice on the need for monitoring and evaluation made a conscious choice to prefer protecting the privacy of individuals on the Screening Register over and above enabling effective monitoring and evaluation to be carried out.

MR CORKILL:    No there was no evidence that issue was addressed and I say it was foreseeable and should have been.  Is there anything else on funding?

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Mr Corkill, could have your opinion on this?  There is the Screening Register and there is the programme and women participate on the programme but opt off of the Register.

MR CORKILL:    Yes.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Now from the evidence that we heard, does a screening programme relate to the women who have had smears, of those who relate to the women who are on the Register?

MR CORKILL:    My understanding is that it's the latter.  That maybe a matter that we need to have a look at, I suppose there is the question about who pays for the smears at the start of the process and in particular a smear where a woman elects to opt off and arguably, if the Crown is paying for that smear to be taken, then arguably it is part of the programme insofar as smear takers are part of the programme.  I don’t know if Ms Sholtens can give an immediate answer to that.  Is that correct?

MS SHOLTENS:    Certainly as I understand it the Crown pays for all smears or all smear readings but in the early days, my understanding was that unless a person opted onto the programme, that included the Register, they weren’t part of the programme…

CHAIR:    No.

MS SHOLTENS:    If their smears were not recorded on the Register, then there was nothing the programme could effectively offer them over and above your standard screening service that had been provided for man years.

CHAIR:    So one issue though would be if the Ministry were regularly sending out reports from the Cancer Register on incidents of cancer to laboratories, those laboratories could then look back on the smear readings they had done for those women registered on the Cancer Register with a view to having a look back, and it would be separate from the programme, but it would be a measure of quality control for laboratories.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Mr Corkill, my understanding of how the programme works is that women can opt on or opt off each time they have a smear.

MR CORKILL:    Yes.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    So a woman could have a history of opting on one year, opting off the following year and so on and so forth.  So that her screening history on the Register is very spotty.

MR CORKILL:    Could be.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    In terms of linking the Registers and evaluating the screening history who developed invasive cancer, how useful is it to link the two given the scenario that I have outlined?

MR CORKILL:    I think I would have to respond to that question by saying that the, I don’t know what the short answer is, but the enrolment figures would perhaps suggest that that problem is not as significant as one might think it is.  And if therefore it is not a significant problem, I’m not sure that it is a problem that effects the integrity of the possibility of monitoring or evaluation or formal evaluation.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    It would seem to me that if the opt off is each time a woman has a smear, there is always the question of how complete is that screening history on the Registry?

MR CORKILL:    Yes.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    And that one would always have to look at the medical records as well to close that gap in the event of, if one does an audit.

MR CORKILL:    Well that may well be correct Professor Duggan and I’m afraid I don’t recall any evidence on this particular matter.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    That’s the point, I don’t think the evidence went beyond thinking well how good is the data once you link them, how useful is it.

MR CORKILL:    I think it's a useful question to identify if I may say so, it's not for me to answer it.  I certainly do not, would not accept that in any way it would be a reason for not having correlation or monitoring and evaluation and what have you, and that’s about as far as I can take.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Yes I know what that means now.  Let me ask you another question.  In terms of the opt off, again I don’t know if this is even legally possible, but if a woman opts off should that be a lifetime decision?  And my reason for saying this is it would make the data on the Register clean in terms of a woman, because if you opt off you opt off for life.  If you choose not to opt off, you’re on for life.

MR CORKILL:    Yes I understand the problem, I’m just discussing it briefly with my junior.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Okay.

MR CORKILL:    I think Dr Duggan from the woman’s perspective, the submission would be circumstances change, views change, the woman’s right therefore to make a decision has to be reserved for each occasion.  There may be a different answer from the point of view of the programme for the data reasons that you mention.  My junior makes the point that one of the matters that comes through in the evidence, particularly the evidence of the woman is the issue of education.  And just what do women understand about the pros of cons of being part of the programme, allowing their names to go forward or the data to go forward and therefore electing not to opt off.  And in the end, of course we would accept from a logical point of view that for the sake of preserving the integrity of the data, what you should be on and you should be on for good.  But that is a matter of education I think is our submission at the end of the day and it may be worth the Committee underscoring that it its report.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:    Okay.

CHAIR:    Yes the alternative would be to move to a compulsory population based Register wouldn’t it?  It's really a matter of social policy whether you have that type of health system.  One thing I would like help from you on is the terms of reference since we’re onto this point.  When you look at term of reference 1, it's to look at unacceptable level of under reporting, it's not tied to smears relating to the programme, the programme itself isn’t mentioned until you get to term of reference 3.

MR CORKILL:    Yes.

CHAIR:    So on one reading of the terms of reference it could be said that the inquiry’s to look into under reporting in respect of all smears, not just those for women enrolled on the programme.  Is that how you read the terms of reference?

MR CORKILL:    Yes that’s how I read it and I have a recollection that Mr Hindle addressed you briefly on this last week when he made the point that the Health Funding Authority reread had incorporated all Dr Bottrill’s slides, not all of which were necessarily on the programme.  and I think he may have had some numbers that he identified in that regard.  So to that extent, that evidence has been placed before you.

CHAIR:    But when it then gets down to terms of reference 4, 5, 6 etc., those terms of reference do not specifically refer to the programme, so it could be said that the changes that we should refer to in terms of what has already made, what should be made, should relate to the accuracy smear reporting generally rather than just dealing with how well the programme ensures that that smears are accurately reported.

MR CORKILL:    Yes and I agree with that approach for this reason that I think it is a reasonable inference from the terms of reference and indeed, some of the parallel processes that have been going on beside this inquiry for instance, to do with amendments of the Medical Practitioners Act that clearly the Minister is concerned about all the issues that arise from Gisborne, including for example, whistle blowing.

CHAIR:    Yes that had come to my mind too because the issues I was covering with Mr Grieve on whistle blowing, if the programme is being effectively monitored and evaluated, you may reduce the need for it.  But for those women who are not on the programme and who are reliant on the laboratories reading their smears, getting it right, it becomes more important that there is this extraneous obligation on professionals to report improper conduct.

MR CORKILL:    Yes and so it's my submission the Minister clearly intends a broad approach to these questions.  You’ve had some evidence about the consultation paper that the Ministry has prepared in relation to the Medical Practitioners Act and I intend to address you briefly about that.

CHAIR:    And the point I raise with Mrs Sholtens about how it would have helped laboratories to assess their performance if as occurs in England as said my Professor McGoogan, that on an annual basis laboratories received a print out from the Cancer Register showing incidences of cancer.  So that they could then check against their smear reports and see whether or not there was any need for a look back and a rereading of smears.  That would be more important to protect those women who were not on the programme.

MR CORKILL:    Yes I agree with that.

CHAIR:    So would you support that move?

MR CORKILL:    Yes I would.

CHAIR:    Thank you.  Well I’d started this off by talking to you about the issues on page 53, I’m ready to move to 56 which is payments to laboratories if you are?

MR CORKILL:    Yes thank you.

CHAIR:    It's from 116 that you mention the 1992 legal opinion and the first point I wanted to find out was whether you’d actually looked at the regulations yourself and whether or not you had reached any conclusion as to whether or not you agreed with the legal opinion that was given in 92.

MR CORKILL:    Yes I have and no I don’t.  In fact I think in my paragraph 118, I’ve given you a page reference to some oral evidence of Dr Boyd’s because I discussed with him in cross examination these regulations and I’m not sure whether it got produced as an exhibit or not because my copy of the regulations which I know I distributed at that stage, doesn’t have a number on it.  This is the Social Security Laboratory Diagnostic Services Regulations 1981.  I’ve got a copy in front of me Madam Chair and there should be a copy.

CHAIR:    Perhaps at the end of the day you could give the Register the copy and also your copy of Chapel and Hart so that can be copied overnight.

MR CORKILL:    Do you want me to address about that in the morning then when you’ve got the reg in front of you or I can do it quickly now.  The short point is this and you’ll see it's covered quite fully in the transcript of the evidence with Dr Boyd, that regulation 6 of those regulations, sorry regulation 5 dealt with the recognition of medical practitioners as pathologists, which was a precursor to payment and you will recall Dr Boyd talking about that.  Regulation 6 states that the Minister may refuse recognition and says the Minister may in his discretion refuse or give recognition as a pathologist having regard to:

a) the personal qualifications of the applicant and the nature of the apparatus and equipment available for is use

b) any considerations that in the opinion of the Minister would make the recognition of the applicant contrary to the public interest

So that’s at the start of the recognition process.

CHAIR:    So on that point, what the Ministry could do given that there would be a change which would financially effect pathologists, it could have consulted issuing draft regulations saying that it was of a mind to now only pay for cyto screening if a laboratory was Telarc accredited, it could set forth the various reasons as to why it wanted to laboratories Telarc accredited ..

MR CORKILL:    It was already doing that and there was really no issue about it.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:    The consultation wasn’t a problem here because CALC for instance, the representatives on CALC bought into this completely.  They accepted it so I don’t, with respect, see consultation as the slightest problem here because the policy realised a lead in, Dr Teague was clearly pushing a finite timeline and was going around saying, people are going to have to have Telarc by 1993.

CHAIR:    And in terms of that second sub-regulation you read out to me that the Minister has a discretion to revoke recognition or alter conditions attaching to recognition where he’s satisfied that it's in the public interest I think the phrase is something like that.  If he did it on the basis he was satisfied on all the information before him that laboratories doing cyto screenings should be Telarc accredited and even perhaps also should be reading a minimum number of smears given the advice he had received as to what happened in other countries.  Do you think it would be open to say the regulation was ultraviries because it clearly wasn’t in the public interest or do you think there was enough information around which would allow someone acting for the Ministry of Health in a judicial review challenging the regulation to say these are the reasons why it is in the public interest that these conditions now be attached to receiving payment.

MR CORKILL:    Well could I just make several points here Madam Chair, it's unfortunate I can’t give you a copy immediately because the one I read it is the criteria that applies on day one when you are originally recognised as a pathologist and it is not in my submission the relevant sub regulation.  You need then to go on to sub regulation 3 which I’ve mentioned in my submission.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:    63, the Minister may at any time, by not less than one month’s notice in writing, revoked any recognition given by him under this regulation or alter any of the conditions attached by him to any such recognition.  You’ll see from the transcript, it's all set out in my questions to Dr Boyd that what I am submitting is that a Dr Bottrill for instance who had clearly been recognised and had been paid over the years under the Social Security legislation and all such persons now reading cytology for the programme could have been put under one month’s notice, following a suitable process of consultation.

CHAIR:    What I was trying to explore with you is whether though the sub regulation 3 you’ve read out, the Minister couldn’t act arbitrarily.  I think you would have to read into that regulation a requirement that he act reasonably so that you couldn’t have an unreasonable revocation or alteration and what I was saying is on your submission, was there sufficient information before the Minister to enable him to say it is reasonable that I do this?

MR CORKILL:    Very definitely yes and I say that for this reason.  Dr Stratton gave very strong advice on this point in 1990 and she and I have submitted this in my prepared submission, was I suspect no doubt influenced by the Australian position because we know that there was a compulsory form of accreditation and Medicare payments could only be paid in Australia where accredited as from 1998.  So I infer that she was influenced by that, that was her recommendation in 1990, point number one.  Point number two, the Minister was advised by 1991 and we know she accepted the advice because it went into the Government policy that there should be Telarc accreditation so there was no shortage of relevant advice.  Point number three, it was accepted by the community, by the pathologists community that this had to happen and I’ve already made the point that Dr Teague in the various CALC meetings was referring to this.  You’ve also got the evidence of the meeting of all the community laboratories from around the country in October 1992 where Dr Teague said Telarc accreditation is going to be compulsory by next year and then you’ve got in 1993, the ACL ethical rules where they clearly bought into that obligation as well.  It was an article of membership that they had to be Telarc accredited so clearly the professional community was on board and so my short answer to your question is there was any amount of evidence indicating that it was common ground that such a requirement was reasonable and I can see no possible basis for a legal impediment to the Minister, didn’t have to promulgate a regulation, simply had to act under it.

CHAIR:    Yes.  You’ve said at 119, you’ve referred to the evidence of Ms Glackin that she would have expected the analysts concerned to have gone back to legal, you will have seen the legal opinion in February 92.  Given the form of that opinion, do you think it was sufficient at the time for the Ministry official requesting the opinion to leave it at that point and to accept solicitor’s advice or should there have been a further inquiry?

MR CORKILL:    Ms Glackin herself expressed the view that the analyst should’ve gone back to legal and I think that is where I start because that’s somebody from the Ministry saying well on the face of it, this wasn’t a very impressive document.

CHAIR:    No.

MR CORKILL:    But the other point I would make is that those involved in running the programme knew how important this was or should have known, should have know or knew that as from 1990, Dr Stratton had been saying this was critical and his strict timetable and so on…

CHAIR:    Would you have expected them then to have sought a Crown Law opinion?

MR CORKILL:    I have to confess I don’t have detailed knowledge of how the Ministry operates with regard to the obtaining of legal opinions except for what I have seen in the last six weeks.  We know that the facility is there when the need arises.  I don’t have direct experience of how often there is recourse to Crown Law and I think that’s a question I would have to ask you to direct to my learned friends.  Just finally on these regulations Madam Chair, I see in those regulations a very clear mechanism for dealing with this issue and I just make the point, because I’m going to talk about Section 51 notices shortly that this terminology and this process was transported directly into a schedule, schedule 2 of the Section 51 notice.  Everything I’ve said about the Ministry applies equally to the Regional Health Authority when we get there.  Unless you’re going to stop me, I’m going to move forward now to page 60.

CHAIR:    You’ve referred to the Regional Health Authority in the Section 51 notice as well, just before you move to page 60, tell me this.  What inferences do you draw from the fact that the ability to use regulations to impose Telarc accreditation and other conditions on laboratories doing cyto screening for the programme was handled in the way it was and equally what inferences do you draw from the way in which Midland Regional Health Authority also left the matter open in the way that it did.

MR CORKILL:    Perhaps if I …

CHAIR:    If this moves into the Telarc accreditation…

MR CORKILL:    Well it sort of does.  You’re dealing with a point that I was going to deal with at some stage so I’m more than happy to do it now.  Paragraph 189 of the Ministry’s submission, the submission is made that despite the recognised concern about Dr Bottrill ‘s practice, Mr Mules indicated that there was no basis for action, given the almost complete absence of quality assurance requirements in the Section 51 notice.  I think the question that’s being posed is whether a Section 51 notice could have been used either at that point in time when clearly issues were cropping up as far as Dr Bottrill was concerned or in any event, as a general proposition.

CHAIR:    So what you’re saying is as a matter of law, could quality assurance requirements have been written into the Section 51 notice.

MR CORKILL:    That’s the question I now want to answer.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:    Can I take you to Mule’s volume 1, tab 9.

CHAIR:    Yes I have that.

MR CORKILL:     I’m just going to borrow counsel assisting’s copy as mine’s not numbered.

CHAIR:    It’s page 106.

MR CORKILL:    Before I go into the notice itself, I want to refer to Section 51 itself.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:    Because what I’m about to say in relation to the Section 51 notice can I think legitimately be considered in the context of the act itself because it's the act that sets up this whole process.

CHAIR:    Right.

MR CORKILL:    First of all, we’ve got Section 51 there that provides for the giving of notices, either by the Public Health Commission or an Regional Health Authority and there is a deemed process of offer and acceptance set up by the Act, but sub section 2 provides that any terms and conditions of which notice is given under subsequent section 1 of this section shall, unless they expressly provide otherwise, be deemed to include a provision to the effect that four weeks notice must be given of any amendment or revocation of the terms and conditions.  Clearly the Act contemplated processes of amendment or revocation, that’s my first point.  Secondly, also in this Act we have Section 19.

CHAIR:    What Act is that you’re looking at?

MR CORKILL:    I’m looking at the Health & Disability Services Act 1993.  I’ve just taken you to 51 2 and I say clearly the legislature contemplated amendment and revocation of Section 51 notices.  And I’m submitting also Madam Chair that a …

CHAIR:    Yes, Section 19, Maintenance of Appropriate Standards.

MR CORKILL:    Yes.  In other words, Section 51 has to be read in the context of the Act itself and another important plank in the Act is Section 19.  I submit that that is the statutory framework within you have to look at a given Section 51 notice.

CHAIR:    And you would say that there was enough evidence before the Regional Health Authority at the time as a purchaser to consider it appropriate to purchase only those laboratory services that were from Telarc accredited laboratories.

MR CORKILL:    Yes, when you look at those purchase agreements for example that came through to the Regional Health Authority when in fact we know that Telarc was a mandatory obligation, the Government policy of the day, the 1991 policy or so on and so on, there was any amount of evidence.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:    Going from the Act to the notice itself, there are various mechanisms in the Act which I submit could be used, and I’ll just talk about the theoretical first and then we’ll talk about whether they should have been used in the particular case.  I start on page, counsel assisting has just given me an unnumbered bundle which was a great mistake.  What page does the document start on?  Mrs Barrett are you able to assist me, what page does this document start on?

CHAIR:    108, paragraph 6.5 I think is the relevant paragraph.

MR CORKILL:    Yes 6.1 has a variation mechanism in it.

CHAIR:    6.1 requires the agreement but 6.5 says notwithstanding clauses 5, 6.1 to 6.4 and 7 the Regional Health Authority may at any time on the giving of four weeks notice implement changes directed by the Government concerning patient benefits, user charges, pharmaceutical schedules and any other matters concerning patient entitlements.  I think you may have something else you wish to refer me to but that I think seems to be the one.

MR CORKILL:    Yes.  Just on the primary point though, the point about agreement.  It’s my submission that there was never going to be any issue about Telarc accreditation and I’ve run through the list already.  We know that the pathologist’s community had bought into this many years prior.  We know that ACL with whom they were negotiating were committed to it under their rules.

CHAIR:    It seems to me that given that Dr Bottrill had been receiving payment, you have to read 6.1 as referring to the pathologists, so if Dr Bottrill was receiving payment and you them wanted to vary that by saying to him we’re only going to pay you now if you become Telarc accredited to rely on 6.1, you’d have to have his agreement to that court of action.  The alternative would be to go ahead under 6.5 having given him four weeks notice.

MR CORKILL:    But I was also thinking about not only Dr Bottrill but indeed about all the pathologists with whom Midland were contracting or paying.

CHAIR:    The problem is that in order to direct the cytology to pathologists who would agree to be Telarc accredited, you also had to take it away from those who didn’t.

MR CORKILL:    Yes well that maybe so.  That’s one mechanism and that’s one of several and so I don’t rely solely on it.  In schedule 2 which is page 117, you’ve got a repetition of the Social Security regime that I have just discussed with you at clause 3.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:    And in particular at 3.3, the ability of the Regional Health Authority to revoke any recognition.

CHAIR:    Yes and what about 3.1 where you can refuse to give recognition having regard to, there are those three things, one has a reference to Telarc.

MR CORKILL:    You’ll see one has a reference to Telarc and you’ll see in the transcript there was an interesting discussion between yourself and myself and Mr Mules on what that meant and in particular, whether the comma after the word ‘use’ in 3.1.1 meant that the Telarc registration was simply in relation to apparatus and equipment.  Now I don’t necessarily accept that with respect, I think the location of the comma is such that both criteria could be made with reference to Telarc standards.

CHAIR:    In any event, there’s 3.1.2, any considerations that in the opinion of the Regional Health Authority would make the recognition of the applicant contrary to the public interest and it would then be a matter of saying as at that point in time, was there sufficient information supporting Telarc accreditation as a compulsory event to say it would be contrary to the public interest to use laboratories that were not Telarc accredited?

MR CORKILL:    Yes.  Now that of course is Madam Chair at the front end of the recognition process and you will recall the evidence was that in 1993 when this new Act was passed, the Midland Regional Health Authority sent out a letter saying it's business as usual.  In other words, there seems to have been a very cursory if any examination of suitability of individual pathologists in 1993 on the day of transition.  And I am probably more inclined to take the position that in 1994 when the alarm bell rang by reason of the letter which Dr Bottrill wrote, it is really my contention that at that point in time there was a mechanism for dealing with the issue.  My learned friend’s submission to you is that there was an absence of quality assurance requirements in the Section 51 notice and I have to say with respect that I see nothing in this notice that reads down the ability of the Regional Health Authority to react on a quality assurance matter by reasons of the terms of the notice, particularly when read in the context of the Act and Section 19.

CHAIR:    Yes well I think what counsel for the Ministry of Health and Health Funding Authority are referring to the fact that the notice didn’t spell out quality assurance requirements but the point you make is that there was nothing to stop them doing that in the notice legally and in any event, even if they didn’t, the impact of Section 19 of the Health & Disability Services Act coupled with Section 51 enabled them to make Telarc accreditation a requirement or payment.

MR CORKILL:    Or in  the case of Dr Bottrill if they felt there was an urgent issue because clearly there was a non compliant practitioner or practitioner who was not recognising his obligations and there was a means of dealing with it.  Now that’s not the end of the story because if you go now to schedule 3, clause 6.1, there was yet another mechanism.

CHAIR:    What page is that?  I closed my volumes.

MR CORKILL:    It’s 127 going on 8.  Sorry 8 going on 9, it’s clause 6 Advisory Committees and gain you will see in the evidence that I discussed this with Mr Mules and there was the ability to set up an Advisory Committee for three purposes.  First bullet point, advising as to the application of terms and conditions as to benefit fees and subsidies.  Hearing any complaints and disputes that may arise in relation to any such benefits etc.  Making recommendations for any other purpose in connection with this notice, now that may be more of a process mechanism for dealing with an issue but if hypothetically a practitioner had said no, I’m not going to agree to this, then again there was a process under the Section 51 notice for dealing with that issue.  So I say in short that there was no shortage of mechanisms under the Section 51 and that should have been recourse to it.

CHAIR:    So your submission is, if the will was there the means to achieve it was available?

MR CORKILL:    Yes and I would probably go further and say that although I questioned Mr Mules very firmly indeed on why this did not happen, I submit that his evidence is actually equivocal in the end about why he didn’t look at Section 51 at page A1319, line 21.

CHAIR:    Is this in your submission?

MR CORKILL:    No I’m responding to the Ministry’s submission here.

CHAIR:    Just so I can make a note of it so I should say that Mules A…

MR CORKILL:    1319.  I’ll give you several pages.  It’s at 1319/1323.  That’s the passage in evidence where I discussed this with him and the question I asked the Committee to consider is how confident can you be that Mr Mules actually considered Section 51 at all?

CHAIR:    The impression I gained of the evidence was that they very much wanted to enter into contracts with the providers and that the Section 51 notices were stop gaps which were rolled over each year, probably at the beginning of each year, they thought this would be the end of it but things were never completed so they kept being rolled over each time and in the meantime, everyone was putting their hopes on the contractual negotiations, rather than simply getting in and doing something.

MR CORKILL:    Yes, my friend and her submission at paragraph 189 says Midland’s response was to escalate its attempts to achieve quality assurance requirements to the laboratories generally and I think that was in the context of contractual negotiations.

CHAIR:    There seems to have been a focus which is illustrated by the role of the National Co-ordinator being one of facilitation, this emphasis by the Regional Health Authorities on contractual negotiations of trying to manage by persuading people to do things rather than by ultimately deciding who has the power to do something and actually exercising that power.

MR CORKILL:    And I think there are a lot of examples of things falling between the cracks because of that process.  Telarc is a classic example, another is the failure ever on the part of the Royal College to ratify the Cacs standards.  I submit it’s astonishing that those standards reached a point in 1996 under the Cacs process where it remained only for the Royal College to ratify them and the whole thing got totally bogged down on a near patient testing issue with a result that when the evidence was given, the witnesses were saying those standards have never been ratified and it's my submission, that the effect of that was that those standards which had been annexed to contracts such as the contract with Gisborne Laboratories Ltd and brought in the Telarc obligation, because they were never ratified, it was never an enforceable obligation.  So right up to 1999, Telarc in this region, was not an enforceable obligation as a matter of law.

CHAIR:    Yes I see that Mr Murray doesn’t agree so that’s a matter of dispute.  But yes, the contract was signed in March 97 but you would say because the standards were not ratified and that was a condition, then it was an unforceable term in the contract.

MR CORKILL:    It’s in my submission somewhere, I won’t get off the topic here but my point really Madam Chair is picking up your point.  But here’s an example where direct persuasion or the concept of consensus which is what we were discussing, patently didn’t work.

CHAIR:    What comment do you have to make if we look at it in two seeds.  One, there is the screening programme.  Two, given the broader impact of our terms of reference, there is just the cytology reading which the Government, through the Regional Health Authority pays for, for women who have smear tests.  What do you make of a situation where those that are ultimately in control of this process arrange themselves in such a way that they choose attempt to have their wishes implemented through a consensus contractual approach rather than at some point in time, saying we are the ones with the money, we make the rules, this is how it will be.

MR CORKILL:    My first point is that it was contrary to advice and I go back to Dr Stratton who set a strict timetable and the Government policy assumed that of 1991 and my second point is, I think this is where the whole thing went off the rails because of things like the health reforms and the dysfunctional relationships that cropped up at that point, and institutional knowledge went out the door, that is when the problems started to occur.  And some of these no doubt good intentions at the start of the process in 1990 and 1991 were not known to later players.

CHAIR:    And there seems to be almost a conscious decision on the part of the Ministry not to avail itself of the traditional means of regulating delivery of services such as promoting primary legislation, using secondary legislation in terms of regulations and instead, falling back on contracts where you’re independent on the agreement of the other party.

MR CORKILL:    Yes I agree with that and I think that there were other aspects of this story as well, if you look at page 59 of my submission where I’m tracing the Telarc history.  My 125.13 I have noted that the Minister was advised by a Ministry official, I think an analyst not the co-ordinator, that there had been an introduction of compulsory Telarc registration for cytology laboratories and I say later in this submission that the Minister was mislead at that point.  That’s a document I think that deals with a decision that was being requested about training of cyto screeners or some such but that was the statement made.  But then a couple of entries below, you have at 125.15, you have in November 1993 CALC when informed by the National Co-ordinator the provision should be included in Regional Health Authority funding agreements for cytology services to be purchased only from Telarc registered laboratories, stated that a reasonable period of grace needs to be given for a new laboratory to become registered and this could mean that some laboratories will go out of business.  Now again, I am critical of CALC having pushed quite hard up to the end of 1992 on the whole issue of a narrow window for Telarc registration of two years or so, suddenly changing it's tune in November 1993 and I submit that that is where this consensus process that you have referred to went off the rails because CALC changed it's position as well.  And of course it was not long after this that Ms Dahl left and so we have an institutional knowledge problem arising.  We have clear confusion within the Ministry about whether Telarc is compulsory or not because the Minister is being told one thing and the reality is another, and really the matter was not satisfactorily dealt with from that point onwards.

CHAIR:    And in terms of the document you referred me to earlier, Boyd Volume 2, tab 10, page 144, where there is talk of a review and the review needing to include development of quality control measures to ensure that the services maintained a consistently high standard, this was being recognised in 1988.

MR CORKILL:    Yes that’s right.  Now, I seem to have gone into Telarc which is fine, I’m happy to stay with it because there’s a couple of rebuttal points I wanted to mention and I’m round about page 58 or 9 of my submission.

CHAIR:    Yes.

MR CORKILL:    Page 60.

CHAIR:    Just before you go, I’ll just say this, what is your view in Telarc accreditation in terms of do you see it as the last word in quality assurance or do you see it as a initial step going someway to ensure that there is quality assurance in a laboratory?

MR CORKILL:    It’s plainly the latter.  They obviously don’t offer an ongoing monitoring process as such but they do also offer a review process and I just don’t quite have the figure in my mind at the moment but the evidence is there and clearly every expert witness who has come to this hearing has seen it as a very acceptable way of ensuring that quality assurance was kick started.

CHAIR:    Yes so we’ve got a situation where although in Boyd volume 2, tab 10 in 1999, it’s being recognised that a quality assurance process is necessary.  At the same time Telarc accreditation, which is just really the beginning of that process rather than the end in itself, you’ve pointed to delays in the implementation of that, in considerable length.

MR CORKILL:    Yes indeed.  I just want to take the Committee to paragraph 308 of the Ministry’s submission.  The statement is made that during 91 to 93 the consistent advice of CALC and Dr Teague to the National Co-ordinators was that good progress was being made toward accreditation.  I’ve submitted that clearly CALC was pushing hard in terms of the Government policy that it had to be implemented within two years, that is by 1993.  But it’s my submission that as at 1993, there was enough information that came into the Ministry to suggest that there was no case for resting on their laurels as far as that is concerned.  We’ve had a number of pieces of evidence in the inquiry about just what were the numbers on Telarc registration at that point.  Probably the most significant piece of information was the Norton Report that was Ms Valerie Norton black in volume 5 and you’ll remember that she reported that of the respondents, and I think from memory there were 18 community laboratories who responded to the questionnaire, 9 of them were Telarc registered.  Hospitals, I think it was 5 out of 8 or 9 from memory.  So there was that piece of information, on the 17th November and the reference for this is GRB/MOH/18/63, it’s CALC minutes.  On the 17th November 1993 the number was 16 not accredited out of 22, now that number doesn’t reconcile terribly happy with the previous numbers but plainly there were a number of laboratories not Telarc accredited.  You’ve also got exhibit JMG/MOH/102 which is the memo within the Ministry about whether there should be a performance indicator within the funding agreement about Telarc registration and you may recall that the exhibit had attached to it a fax from Telarc spelling out how many hospital labs were Telarc registered.  If you look at those, even just those three exhibits, it’s clear that there were still a number of laboratories still to be registered, just even on those crude figures.  Also clear even by reason of simply the fact of the discussion about whether there should be a performance indicator on Telarc accreditation, it's clear they knew they have some distance to go and in answer to the submission made by my learned friends that good progress was being made towards accreditation, it's my response that the progress was not such that the Ministry could afford to rest on it's laurels, leave it to consensus, hope that they remainder would do it because human nature being what it is, it's the keen ones who do it first.  It's the ones who haven’t done it by a particular point in time and the point of time which had been nominated was 1993, are the ones who are going to be difficult to get to that point.

CHAIR:    And what is your view on the point that irrespective of what CALC and Dr Teague were saying that at some point there was an onus on the Ministry itself to look at the information before it and come to its own view on what it should do about Telarc accreditation.

MR CORKILL:    Well I submit very strongly that that onus existed.  It was driving the policy, the Minister’s policy, it had received the expert advice right from 1990 onwards about the importance of this issue and it had the information across the country which the individual Regional Health Authority’s did not have so I say it had that responsibility.

CHAIR:    And is there any evidence that we’ve heard which would show that the Ministry did carry out that onus in the sense that it stood back and made it own assessment of the situation and consciously chose not to utilise any powers other than contractual to ensure that Telarc accreditation was in place.

MR CORKILL:    Regrettably, no Madam Chair.  It’s my submission that the last entry you see in the evidence about the subject being raised at all at Ministry CALC level is November 1993 when CALC made the statement about a period of grace will have to be given and I think I’m right in saying that that was the last entry of that topic in minutes or other documents.

CHAIR:    And is there any evidence showing that the Ministry considered for itself whether or not it was appropriate that a further period of grace be given or did it just simply accept what CALC said on that point?

MR CORKILL:    It’s my submission that it was the latter, it simply wasn’t addressed thereafter.

CHAIR:    Okay, we’ve reached 5.  We’ll start at 10 tomorrow and we’ll see how we go, it may be because people want to get through this week that we increase the sitting hours.  Those who have already given their submissions are free to go at any time and you don’t have to sit and listen if you don’t wish to.  The Committee won’t be offended if you suddenly disappear or come in late etc.  I know what it's like when you're listening to submissions and you’ve already given your own, it’s a very tedious process.  Well, we will adjourn now until 10am tomorrow.

INQUIRY RETIRES UNTIL 10.00 AM

THURSDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2000.

